
 
4x4 Committee on Housing 
City Council and Rent Board 

 
 

4 X 4 JOINT COMMITTEE ON HOUSING 
CITY COUNCIL/RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 

 
Tuesday, May 4, 2021 – 3:00 p.m. 

 
PUBLIC ADVISORY: THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE. 

 
Pursuant to Section 3 of Executive Order N-29-20, issued by Governor Newsom on March 17, 2020, this 
meeting of the City Council and Rent Stabilization Board’s 4 x 4 Joint Committee on Housing (Committee) 
will be conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom videoconference. Please be advised that 
pursuant to the Executive Order and the Shelter-in-Place Order, and to ensure the health and safety of the 
public by limiting human contact that could spread the COVID-19 virus, there will not be a physical 
meeting location available. 

 
To access this meeting remotely: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device by clicking on this 
URL: https://zoom.us/j/91398011329?pwd=RUVqclpMUmd0bzFIS3lQY3c0ZkNDUT09 . If you do not wish for 
your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop-down menu and click on "Rename" to rename yourself 
to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “Raise hand” icon by rolling over the bottom of the screen. 

 
To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-6833 and enter Webinar ID: 913 9801 1329 and Passcode: 857447. If you 
wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by the 
Committee Chair. 

 
To submit an e-mail comment to be read aloud during public comment, email btran@cityofberkeley.info with 
the Subject Line in this format: “PUBLIC COMMENT ITEM FOR 4 X 4 COMMITTEE”. Please observe a 150- 
word limit. Time limits on public comments will apply. Written comments will be entered into the public record. 
Email comments must be submitted to the email address above by 1:00 p.m. on the day of the Committee 
meeting in order to be included. 

 
Please be mindful that this will be a public meeting and all rules of procedure and decorum will apply for 
meetings conducted by teleconference or videoconference. 

 
This meeting will be conducted in accordance with Government Code Section 54953 and all current state and 
local requirements allowing public participation in meetings of legislative bodies. Any member of the public 
may attend this meeting. Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to Matt Brown, Acting Executive 
Director of the Rent Board, at (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT). The Committee may take action related to any 
subject listed on the Agenda. 

https://zoom.us/j/92083611523?pwd=cmxxdisxQkVudjZMYm5DT0xBOFpTUT09
mailto:btran@cityofberkeley.info


 
4x4 Committee on Housing 
City Council and Rent Board 

 

AGENDA 
 

4 X 4 JOINT COMMITTEE ON HOUSING 
CITY COUNCIL/RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 

 

Tuesday, May 4, 2021 – 3:00 p.m. 

1. Roll Call 
 

2. Approval of the Agenda 
 

3. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters 
 

4. Approval of March 10, 2021 Committee Meeting Minutes 
 

5. Update on Amendments to Short Term Rental Ordinance (Planning Department) 
 

6. Discuss Adoption of an Affordable Housing Overlay to allow for 100% Affordable Housing 
Developments (CM Taplin) 

 
7. Discuss Possibility of Passing Rental Forgiveness for the Time Period During the Pandemic 

(RBC Johnson) 
 

8. Discuss SB 1079 Purchases (Ian Winters from Northern California Community Land Trust 
and Jocelyn Foreman) 

 
9. Quick Updates on Previously Discussed Items 

a. Amendments to the Demolition Ordinance (Mayor Arreguín) 
b. Amendments to the Relocation Ordinance (Mayor Arreguín) 

 
10. Discussion of Possible Future Agenda Items 

11. Adjournment 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS: 
Mayor Jesse Arreguín Rent Board Chairperson Leah Simon-Weisberg 
City Councilmember Kate Harrison Rent Board Vice-Chairperson Soli Alpert 
City Councilmember Rigel Robinson Rent Board Commissioner Xavier Johnson 
City Councilmember Terry Taplin Rent Board Commissioner Andy Kelley 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2125 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  TEL: (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT)  TDD: (510) 981-6903  FAX: (510) 981-4940 
EMAIL: rent@cityofberkeley.info   WEB: www.cityofberkeley.info/rent 

mailto:rent@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/rent


4x4 Committee on Housing  
City Council and Rent Board 

2125 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  TEL: (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT)  TDD: (510) 981-6903  FAX: (510) 981-4940 
EMAIL: rent@cityofberkeley.info   WEB: www.cityofberkeley.info/rent 

4 X 4 JOINT COMMITTEE ON HOUSING 
CITY COUNCIL/RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 

Wednesday, March 10, 2021 – 3:00 p.m. 

Minutes To Be Approved 

1. Roll Call: RB Chair Simon-Weisberg called the meeting to order at 3:03 p.m.
Present: RBC Alpert, Mayor Arreguín, CM Harrison (logged off at 4:14 p.m.), RBC Johnson,
RBC Kelley, CM Robinson, RB Chair Simon-Weisberg.
Absent: CM Taplin.
Staff present: Diego Aguilar-Canabal, Matt Brown, Lief Bursell, Stefan Elgstrand, J.T.
Harechmak, Ola Ojigbo, Matthew Siegel, Be Tran.

2. Approval of the Agenda:  M/S/C (Robinson/Harrison) Approve the agenda with the following
change: continue item 7 to the next meeting.  Roll call vote.  YES: Alpert, Arreguín, Harrison,
Johnson, Kelley, Robinson, Simon-Weisberg; NO: None: ABSTAIN: None; ABSENT: Taplin.
Carried: 7-0-0-1.

3. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters:  There were no speakers.

4. Approval of February 24, 2021 Committee Meeting Minutes:  M/S/C (Robinson/Alpert)
Approve the minutes as written.  Roll call vote.  YES: Alpert, Arreguín, Harrison, Johnson,
Kelley, Robinson, Simon-Weisberg; NO: None: ABSTAIN: None; ABSENT: Taplin.  Carried:
7-0-0-1.

5. Update on Amendments to Short Term Rental Ordinance (CM Harrison):

The committee had an extensive discussion about how to deal with Airbnb listings that are for
14 days or more and thus do not trigger the requirement for a zoning certificate for short-term
rentals, but for 30 days or less triggering payment of the transient occupancy tax.

There were no public speakers.

M/S/C (Harrison/Alpert) Motion to recommend that: (1) The City Council direct the City
Manager to contact hosts that are renting units they own for more than 14 days and
thus operating as a hotel, in zoning districts where a hotel is not a permitted use, to
cease and desist; (2) the City Council refer to the City Manager to negotiate a
requirement that Airbnb list the zoning certificate for properties that are renting; and (3)
The City Council refer as a short-term referral to the City Manager to submit the list of
hosts renting short-term rentals for more than 13 days to the Rent Board and that the
Rent Board inform these hosts of the requirement to register with the Rent Board under
the Rent Ordinance (including Measure MM amendments thereto), as appropriate.  Friendly
amendment by Mayor Arreguín (accepted): request that the City Council prioritize the

Item 4.

mailto:rent@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/rent


existing referral for statutory changes to the Short-Term Rentals Ordinance in the Planning 
Commission’s 2021 workplan.  Roll call vote.  YES: Alpert, Arreguín, Harrison, Johnson, 
Kelley, Robinson, Simon-Weisberg; NO: None: ABSTAIN: None; ABSENT: Taplin.  Carried: 
7-0-0-1.

6. Update on Amendments to Demolition Ordinance (Planning Department):  CM Harrison
reported on a conversation with Supervisor Peskin of San Francisco on how San Francisco is
approaching SB 330.  The committee had an extensive discussion on pathways for and
challenges around the “replacement” of demolished rent-controlled units.

There were no public comments.

7. Affordable Housing Overlay (CM Taplin): Continued to the next meeting by a prior vote of the
committee.  

8. Quick Updates on Previously Discussed Items: None.

9. Discussion of Possible Future Agenda Items: None.

10. Adjournment:  M/S/C (Alpert/Robinson) Motion to adjourn.  Roll call vote.  YES: Alpert,
Arreguín, Johnson, Kelley, Robinson, Simon-Weisberg; NO: None: ABSTAIN: None;
ABSENT: Harrison, Taplin.  Carried: 6-0-0-2.

The meeting adjourned at 4:19 p.m.

COMMITTEE MEMBERS:  
Mayor Jesse Arreguín  Rent Board Chairperson Leah Simon-Weisberg 
City Councilmember Kate Harrison Rent Board Vice-Chairperson Soli Alpert 
City Councilmember Rigel Robinson Rent Board Commissioner Xavier Johnson 
City Councilmember Terry Taplin Rent Board Commissioner Andy Kelley 



Office of the City Manager 

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099 
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

January 27, 2021 

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager 

Re: Referral Response:  Short-Term Rentals Update and Outreach 

City staff continue to improve upon a short-term rental program that, based on Council 
direction, allows residents to register and rent appropriate units and prevents properties 
from being rented improperly.  This memorandum updates the City Council on the 
status of the short-term rentals (STR) program, and responds to a referral adopted by 
City Council on July 28, 2020.1  Staff last updated the Council about this program at a 
work session on October 22, 2019.2 

Registration 

Any Berkeley resident who rents accommodations to guests for 13 or fewer nights in 
their home or accessory building is required to register their STR with the City.  Since 
September 2017, the City has accepted 590 STR applications.  Of those, 448 were 
approved, 88 were denied, 4 were disqualified due to a previous no-fault eviction, and 
50 were closed for lack of response for more information and referred for code 
enforcement follow up.  Not all of those that have been approved are still actively listing. 

The City sent initial welcome letters to all active hosts in 2017, informing them of the 
rules of the STR program. The City continues to send new welcome letters on a regular 
basis as new hosts are identified, encouraging them to register their STR and informing 
them of the program rules.  

In order to operate, an STR host must register with the City and be granted a Zoning 
Certificate (ZC-STR).  The City created a dedicated online portal for STR hosts to 
register their units.  Every ZC-STR application is reviewed by staff from Land Use 
Planning and the Rent Stabilization Board (RSB).  Land Use Planning staff reviews for 
requirements such as landlord approval, whether the unit is a qualifying ADU or  

1 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2020/07_Jul/Documents/2020-07-
28_Supp_2_Item_42_Rev_Harrison.aspx 

2 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/10_Oct/Documents/10-
22_Special_Annotated_Agenda_pdf.aspx 

Item 5.

mailto:manager@CityofBerkeley.infos
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2020/07_Jul/Documents/2020-07-28_Supp_2_Item_42_Rev_Harrison.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2020/07_Jul/Documents/2020-07-28_Supp_2_Item_42_Rev_Harrison.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/10_Oct/Documents/10-22_Special_Annotated_Agenda_pdf.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/10_Oct/Documents/10-22_Special_Annotated_Agenda_pdf.aspx


Page 2 
January 27, 2021 
Re:  Referral Response:  Short Term Rentals Update and Outreach 

restricted BMR unit, location to ensure it is in a qualifying zoning district, and evidence 
of proper neighbor notification.  If there is more than one unit on the parcel, staff checks 
for owner/tenant occupancy.  RSB staff review the application for no-fault eviction status 
and owner/tenant occupancy

Enforcement 

The City’s STR enforcement strategy is to issue communications to educate the host 
about local regulations and encourage compliance, and then to issue citations if the 
host does not come into compliance in a reasonable amount of time.  Staff in the 
Planning Department and Finance Department have coordinated efforts since the initial 
program roll-out in late 2017, including the establishment of simple website pages for 
registering and paying taxes.  

Since the last report in September 2019, the Planning Department has continued to 
utilize a third-party service called Host Compliance to identify non-compliant hosts that 
are advertising STR listings in Berkeley.  Once a non-compliant host is identified, staff 
contacts them through a series of letters and phone calls.  To date staff have issued 
819 requests to register, 247 administrative citation warnings, and 104 administrative 
citations.  Initial enforcement activities were focused on apartment buildings with 
multiple listings.  Based on available data, all known listings have received compliance 
letters.  Staff also investigate and address complaints about hosts with noisy guests and 
other nuisances through direct contact and warnings, as well as citations when 
warranted.  

At the end of September 2020 there were 1,482 advertised listings for short-term rentals 
in Berkeley.  Of those, 759 hosts (51%) were taking reservations while 723 (49%) were 
not actively taking reservations for the past 12 months.  Of the 759 active listings, 514 
hosts (68%) meet the current STR definition in Berkeley (13 nights or fewer).  The other 
245 listings (32%) accept reservations for more than 13 days, and therefore fall outside 
the current STR definition and do not require a City-issued Zoning Certificate. 

Of the 514 active listings which meet the City’s STR definition, 277 (54%) have an 
approved Zoning Certificate, while 237 (46%) operate illegally without a Zoning 
Certificate.  The short-term rental marketplace has a pattern of fluidity, which in turn 
requires continuous monitoring.  Enforcement letters are sent out to hosts regularly 
according to the available data, and staff issues escalating fines to hosts that do not 
either remove the listing or obtain a permit.  

A recent enforcement letter was mistakenly sent to hosts who had already registered 
and been approved by the City, due to zoning certificate numbers not having been listed 
on each hosting page.  After the letters were mailed, staff discovered that Airbnb blocks 
hosts from posting their zoning certificate number.  On October 3, 2020 staff mailed a 
new letter apologizing for the mistake and stopping all enforcement against the 



Page 3 
January 27, 2021 
Re:  Referral Response:  Short Term Rentals Update and Outreach 

incorrectly identified hosts.  Going forward, additional testing will be conducted on the 
screening criteria to verify non-compliance before conducting a broad enforcement 
action. 

Outreach and Education Activities 

Information for the general public is located on the City website including a summary 
page, a frequently asked questions page, and a registration page.3  Planning 
Department staff primarily receives and responds to inquiries about the STR program 
via a dedicated email address, STR@cityofberkely.info, through the 3-1-1 customer 
service line, and through the third-party vendor. 

On July 28, 2020, City Council referred to the City Manager the development of an 
outreach program to clarify existing short term rental regulations in areas that have 
proven confusing to hosts, guests, and tenants.  Planning Department staff will work 
with the Public Information Officer in 2021 to further publicize STR regulations, explain 
the rules of the STR program, show hosts how to register, and emphasize how 
regulating the STR market is supportive of neighborhoods.  Staff will also meet with 
community groups such as the Berkeley Property Owner’s Association. 

Revenue 

The table below provides a summary of STR revenues in the first two fiscal years of 
operation.  

Short-Term Rental Revenues Summary 

Description FY 2019 FY 2020 Difference % change 

Transient Occupancy Tax $1,806,679 $1,175,706 $(630,973) -35%

Code Enforcement Fees     $24,317    $102,684    $78,367 322% 

Total Revenue $1,830,996 $1,278,390 $(552,606) -30%

The STR-Transient Occupancy Tax (TOT) revenues for FY 2020 declined by 
approximately 35%.  The decrease in the FY2020 tax revenue is attributable to a 
substantial decline in STR bookings due to the Governor’s shelter in place order in 
March of 2020.  The first quarter results of FY2021 for the STR revenues showed a 
steeper decline of over 80% when compared to the first quarter of FY 2020.  Staff will 
be reviewing and analyzing the revenues from this tax in the next few weeks after the 

3 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/str/ ; 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Land_Use_Division/Short_Term_Rentals_-
_Frequently_Asked_Questions.aspx  

mailto:STR@cityofberkely.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/str/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Land_Use_Division/Short_Term_Rentals_-_Frequently_Asked_Questions.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Land_Use_Division/Short_Term_Rentals_-_Frequently_Asked_Questions.aspx


Page 4 
January 27, 2021 
Re:  Referral Response:  Short Term Rentals Update and Outreach 

December month-end close.  The close of December will indicate the actual receipts for 
the first six months of the current fiscal year and will help to determine if there is any 
discernable trend that can be used for future projections. 

cc: Paul Buddenhagen, Deputy City Manager 
David White, Deputy City Manager 
Jenny Wong, City Auditor 
Mark Numainville, City Clerk 
Matthai Chakko, Assistant to the City Manager 
Jordan Klein, Interim Director, Planning and Development Department 
Henry Oyekanmi, Director, Department of Finance  
Savita Chaudhary, Director, Department of Information Technology 



Kate Harrison 
Councilmember District 4 

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704    Tel: 510.981.7140    TDD: 510.981.6903   
E-Mail: kharrison@CityofBerkeley.info

REVISED 
AGENDA MATERIAL 

for Supplemental Packet 2 

Meeting Date:  July 28, 2020 

Item Number:  42 

Item Description:   Short Term Referral to the City Manager to Clarify and 
Communicate Existing Regulations and Referral of New 
Regulations on Short Term Rentals to the Land Use, Housing 
and Economic Development Committee and Planning 
Commission  

Submitted by:  Councilmember Harrison 

 Revisions 

1. Adds a short-term referral to the City Manager to clarify existing materials
communicating regulations related to short-term rentals.

2. Refers clarifying language and new provisions concerning host platform liability
and penalties to the Planning Commission as well as the Land Use, Housing,
and Economic Development Committee

3. Renumbers and restructures the memo for clarity.
4. Moves item from the Action to the Consent Calendar.



Kate Harrison 
Councilmember District 4 

CONSENT CALENDAR 
July 28, 2020 

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

From: Councilmember Kate Harrison  

Subject: Referral to the City Manager to Clarify and Communicate Existing 
Regulations concerning Short Term Rentals and Referral of Amendments to 
Berkeley Municipal Code 23C.22: Short Term Rentals to the Land Use, 
Housing, and Economic Development Committee and the Planning 
Commission.  

RECOMMENDATION 
1. Refer to the City Manager to come up with a program to clarify existing short term

rental regulations in areas that have proven confusing to hosts, guests and
tenants.

2. Refer ordinance considering Short Term Rental regulations including host platform
responsibilities and possible remedies for violating the ordinance simultaneously
to the Land Use, Housing and Economic Development Committee and the
Planning Commission.

BACKGROUND 
Berkeley has had regulations on short term rentals (STRs) since 2017, allowing STRs in 
most residential and commercial zones, as long as the host pays the transient occupancy 
tax and the unit being rented fits particular criteria (no Below Market Rate unit may be a 
short term rental, no unit may be a short term rental if it has had a No Fault Eviction in the 
past five years, etc.).  

The referral to the City Manager’s office is to address, clarify, and communicate three 
areas that are already supported by existing regulations but where irregularities in 
practice still exist and complaints have been received from Berkeley residents. We are 
also proposing clarifications to the code in the attached ordinance to insure clarity of intent 
in these provisions; Zoning Code amendments must be considered by the Planning 
Commission. City enforcement of these already existing provisions will be aided by 
clarifying the language to hosts and in statute. They are:   

1. Hosts can have only one residence

Deleted: ACTION 

Deleted: ed

Deleted: .



Resolution in Support of Senate Bill 54 and Assembly Bill 1080:  
The California Circular Economy and Plastic Pollution Reduction Act CONSENT CALENDAR 

July 28, 2020 

Individual people have the right to rent out their homes on a short-term basis, but 
in a housing crisis, it is in the best interest of the City to ensure that no one has 
extra units for STRs when they could house someone long term instead. To that 
end, we ask that the City Manager create a mechanism to clarify that a host that 
lives in a multi-unit building may only rent the particular unit (which may include 
accessory buildings or ADUs) in which they reside. Suggested clarifying language 
in Section 23C.22.030.F and 23C.22.030.I (pages 2-3) would ensure this is 
definitively understood. 

2. Short term rentals limited to single ADUs, single Accessory Buildings or
Golden Duplexes not rented for the past ten years

The current ordinance limits use of Accessory Buildings or Accessory Dwelling 
Units to those that have not been rented for ten years. Additional information from 
the City Manager’s Office clarifying thatproperties with more than one Accessory 
Building or ADU, cannot use non-owner occupied units as a short-term rental, 
consistent with state law that went into effect on January 1, 2020 is needed and, if 
necessary, Section 23C.22.020.D (page 1) of the Planning Zoning Code should be 
amended. Short term rentals are not allowed in non-owner occupied rental units in 
duplexes, and are limited to the unit in which the Host actually resides, but this 
provision is not clearly understood and enforcement needs to be expanded. We ask 
that clarifying information be provided by the City Manager. The proposed 
ordinance change would provide that unpermitted use of these units would be 
investigated by the Rent Stabilization Board under Section 23C.22.060.I (page 7).  

3. Closing the 14 to 30 day loophole

Under the Rent Stabilization Ordinance, any rental of 14 consecutive days or longer 
is considered a tenancy and not a short-term rental. However, hosts are not 
required to inform the City of the number of days per short term rental and and there 
are instances of regularly renting a unit for a period of time between 14 days and 
30 days, thus circumventing standard regulations. 23C.22.030.N (page 3) and 
23C.22.040 (page 4) would clarify existing regulations by expressly disallowing 
rentals between 14 and 30 days, and stating that no Zoning Certificate or 
advertisement for a short-term rental may be permitted for rentals longer than 14 
days. 

The proposed ordinance would also include two changes not included in current law or 
regulations. These changes would  be referred to the Land Use, Housing, and Economic 
Development Committee and the Planning Commission: 

Regulatory burden shared by the Host Platform 

Proposals for regulating the host platform would consolidate regulation and ensure 
that the transient occupancy tax owned to the City gets paid. Recommended 
changes to 23C.22.050.H and I (page 5 of 
the Attachment) state that if a hosting platform is utilized to book a short term rental, 

Deleted: clarify that hosts may not have more than one 
principle place of residency

Deleted: i

Deleted: ,

Deleted: five twelve 

Deleted:  

Deleted:  

Deleted:  

Deleted: vacant 

Deleted: prohibits short term rentals in Golden Duplexes if 
those units have been rented in the last ten years 

Deleted: U

Deleted: current law

Deleted: is 

Deleted: 14 or  does not require paying a transient 
occupancy tax. As it now stands 

Deleted: close this loophole by

Deleted: full 

Deleted: will be

Deleted: to 

Deleted: shifted to 

Deleted: We clarify the definition of a hosting platform isin 
23C.22.030.H (page 2) as a marketplace that derives 
revenue from maintaining said short term rental 
marketplace. 

Deleted: R

Deleted: s

Deleted: s



Resolution in Support of Senate Bill 54 and Assembly Bill 1080:  
The California Circular Economy and Plastic Pollution Reduction Act CONSENT CALENDAR 

July 28, 2020 

both it and the individual host are legally responsible and are jointly liable for 
remitting the transient occupancy tax. Proposed  section 23C.22.050.I (pages 5-6 
of the Attachment) also outlines new duties of the hosting platform, including regular 
disclosure of short-term rental listings in the City as well as their address, length of 
stay, and listed prices. In addition, the hosting platform is responsible for ensuring 
that all short- term rentals are appropriately licensed with a Zoning Certificate and 
adds the requirements that STRs must list the Zoning Certificate on any STR 
advertisements. The new regulations would also include a safe harbor clause, 
making clear that hosting platforms that disclose listings, regularly remit the 
transient occupancy tax, and ensure the listing has a Zoning Certificate will be 
presumed to be in compliance with the chapter.  

Remedies 

New proposed language under 23C.22.060E and 23C.22.060.J (page 7) would 
clarify that in the case of a private right of action the prevailing party is entitled to 
recover reasonable costs and attorney’s fees, thus making private right of action 
more financially feasible. The new language would also give the City the right to 
issue administrative subpoenas to determine whether short-term rentals are in 
compliance with the chapter. Both of these suggested revisions are intended to 
encourage enforcement and compliance. 

Suggested changes in the ordinance would also clarify the definitions of the terms 
Accessory Building, Accessory Dwelling Unit, Hosting Platform, the Transient 
Occupancy Tax, and Golden Duplex and make other clarifying language changes. 

CONTACT PERSON 
Kate Harrison, Berkeley City Councilmember, (510) 981-7140 

ATTACHMENTS 
1. Proposed Ordinance

Deleted:  New

Deleted: a 

Deleted: s

Deleted: edits 

Deleted: ies



[Type here] ATTACHMENT PROPOSED ORDINANCE CHANGES 

1 

Chapter 23C.22 
Short-Term Rentals 

23C.22.010 Purposes 

The purposes of the Short-Term Rentals related regulations contained in this Chapter are: 

A. To prevent long-term rental units from being replaced with Short-Term Rentals and protect affordable

housing units from conversion.

B. To preserve and protect neighborhood character and livability from nuisances that are often associated

with Short-Term Rentals.

C. To generate City revenue to share City infrastructure cost and other public expenditures by operation of

Short-Term Rentals under established standards.

D. To provide alternative forms of lodging. (Ord. 7521-NS § 1 (part), 2017)

23C.22.020 Applicability 

A. Short-Term Rentals shall be allowed in residential uses in the following zoning districts: R-1, R-1A, R-2, R-

2A, R-3, R-4, R-5, R-S, R-SMU, C-DMU, C-1, C-NS, C-SA, C-T, C-W, and MU-R.

B. Short-Term Rentals shall be prohibited in below market rate (BMR) units. BMR units for Short-Term Rental

purposes refer to Dwelling Units whose rents are listed as a result of deed restrictions or agreements with

public agencies, and whose tenants must be income-qualified.

C. A property containing a Dwelling Unit protected by a No-Fault Eviction cannot operate Short-Term Rentals

for five years from eviction unless it is a single-family home that has been vacated for purposes of Owner

Occupancy in compliance with the Rent Stabilization Ordinance.

D. Short-Term Rentals are only allowed in a single, Accessory Building and in single existing Accessory

Dwelling Units (ADUs), or a Golden Duplex unless such ADUs are or have within the last 10 (ten) years

preceding the effective date of this ordinance been used for long term rentals, as defined by the requirements

of the Rent Stabilization Ordinance. Short-Term Rentals shall not be allowed in Accessory Dwelling Units

permitted after the date this Ordinance first became effective.  (Ord. 7521-NS § 1 (part), 2017)



[Type here] ATTACHMENT PROPOSED ORDINANCE CHANGES 

2 

23C.22.030 Definitions 
The definitions set forth in this Section shall govern the meaning of the following terms as used in this Chapter: 

A. Accessory Building: A detached building containing habitable space, excluding a kitchen, which is smaller

in size than the main building on the same lot, and the use of which is incidental to the primary use of the lot. 

B. Accessory Dwelling Unit: A secondary dwelling unit that is located on a lot which is occupied by one legally

established Single-Family Dwelling that conforms to the standards of Section 23C.24. An Accessory Dwelling 

Unit must comply with local building, housing, safety and other code requirements and provide the following 

features independent of the Single-Family Dwelling: 1) exterior access to Accessory Dwelling Unit; 2) living and 

sleeping quarters; 3) a full kitchen; and 4) a full bathroom.  An Accessory Dwelling Unit also includes an 

efficiency unit and a manufactured home, as defined in the Health and Safety Code.   

C. "Adjacent Properties" mean the Dwelling Units abutting and confronting, as well as above and below, a

Dwelling Unit within which a Short-Term Rental is located.

D. “Dwelling Unit” means a building or portion of a building designed for, or occupied exclusively by, persons

living as one (1) household. 

E. “Golden Duplex” means an owner-occupied duplex that is exempt from rent control and eviction protection,

so long as it was occupied by the owner on December 31, 1979 and is currently occupied by the owner. 

F..    "Host" means any Owner and is used interchangeably in this Title with Owner Host.  An Owner Host is a 

person who is the owner of record of residential real property, as documented by a deed or other such 

evidence of ownership, who offers his or her Host Residence, or a portion thereof, as a Short-Term Rental.  For 

purposes of offering a Short-Term Rental, an Owner Host may not have more than one “Host Residence” in the 

City of Berkeley, excluding an Accessory Building or an Accessory Dwelling Unit on the same residential real 

property.  A Tenant Host is a lessee of residential real property, as documented by a lease or other such 

evidence, who offers their Host Residence, or portion thereof, as a Short-Term Rental. 

G. "Host Present" or "Host Presence" means the Host is living in the Host Residence during the Short-Term

Rental period. In the case of a parcel comprised of a Single Family Dwelling and one or more authorized

Accessory Dwelling Units and/or Accessory Buildings, the Host is considered Present if he or she is present in

any Dwelling Unit on such property during the Short Term Rental period.



[Type here] ATTACHMENT PROPOSED ORDINANCE CHANGES 

3 

H. "Hosting Platform" means a business or person that provides a marketplace through which an Owner Host

may offer a Dwelling Unit for Short-Term Rentals. A Hosting Platform is usually, though not necessarily,

provided through an internet-based platform. It generally allows a Dwelling Unit to be advertised through a

website provided by the Hosting Platform and provides a means for potential Short-Term Rental Transients to

arrange and pay for Short-Term Rentals, and from which operator of the Hosting Platform derives revenue,

including booking fees or advertising revenues, from providing or maintaining the marketplace.

I..    "Host Residence" means a Host’s principal place of residence as defined by whether the Host carries on 

basic living activities at the place of residence, and whether the place of residence is the Host’s usual place of 

return. Motor vehicle registration, driver’s license, voter registration or other evidence as may be required by 

the City shall be indicia of principal residency.  A Host may have only one place of principal residency in the 

City, and if that principal place of residency contains more than one dwelling unit, the principal place of 

residency shall be only one such dwelling unit.   

J. “Host Responsibilities” means the requirements that a “Host” is obligated to comply with as set forth in this

Ordinance. 

K. "Local Contact" means a person designated by the Host who shall be available during the term of any

Short-Term Rental for the purpose of (i) responding within sixty minutes to complaints regarding the condition

or operation of the Dwelling Unit or portion thereof used for Short-Term Rental, or the conduct of Short-Term

Rental Transients; and (ii) taking appropriate remedial action on behalf of the Host, up to and including

termination of the Short Term Rental, if allowed by and pursuant to the Short Term Rental agreement, to

resolve such complaints.

L. "No Fault Eviction" means an eviction pursuant to the Ellis Act or Sections 13.76.130.A.9 or 10 of the

Berkeley Municipal Code.

M. "Short-Term Rental" or "STR" means the use of any Dwelling Unit, authorized Accessory Dwelling Unit or

Accessory Building, or portions thereof for dwelling, sleeping or lodging purposes by Short-Term Rental

Transients. Short-Term Rental shall be an accessory use to a residential use and be considered neither a

Tourist Hotel nor a Residential Hotel for purposes of this Title.

N. Short Term Rentals are allowed for 14 or fewer consecutive days.  Any rental for more than 14 consecutive

days is not permitted as a Short Term Rental, and any rental for more than 14 consecutive days and less than

30 consecutive days is not permitted in the City of Berkeley.

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley13/Berkeley1376/Berkeley1376130.html#13.76.130


[Type here] ATTACHMENT PROPOSED ORDINANCE CHANGES 

4 

O. "Short-Term Rental Transient" or "STR Transient" means any person who rents a Dwelling Unit,

authorized Accessory Dwelling Unit or Accessory Building, or portion thereof, for 14 or fewer consecutive days.

P. “Transient Occupancy Tax” or “TOT” means local transient tax as set forth in Berkeley Municipal Code

Section 7.36.  The tax is paid by the Short-Term Rental Transient at the time payment is made for the Short- 

Term Rental.  The TOT is then remitted to the City.     

23C.22.040 Permit And License Required 

Short Term Rentals are permitted only in the Host Residence. A Zoning Certificate and a Business License for 

a Short-Term Rental shall be required for each Host to operate a Short-Term Rental.  A Host must provide the 

Uniform Resource Locator (URL) — specifically, the website address — for any and all advertisements for the 

STR, if applicable, on the Zoning Certificate application.   

No Zoning Certificate may be issued to allow for a Short-Term Rental of more than 14 consecutive days, and 

no advertisement for a Short Term Rental of more than 14 consecutive days is allowed.  

23C.22.050 Operating Standards and Requirements 

A Short-Term Rental is allowed only if it conforms to each of the operating standards and requirements set 

forth in this Section, and the Host complies with all Host Responsibilities set forth in this Ordinance.   

A. Proof of Host Residency.

1. An Owner-Host of a Short-Term Rental must provide documentation of Owner Host and Host

Residence status and, if applicable, Host Presence, as defined above.

2. A Tenant-Host must provide documentation of lessee status, Host Residence and Host Presence, if

applicable, as defined in subdivisions C, E, and B of Section 23C.22.030. In addition, a Tenant-Host

must present written authorization allowing for a Short-Term Rental in the Host Residence from the

building owner or authorized agent of the owner.

B. STR Duration and Required Residency Timeframes

1. When the Host is Present, the unit, or a portion thereof, may be rented as a Short-Term Rental for

an unlimited number of days during the calendar year.

2. When the Host is not Present, the number of days that the unit can be used for Short-Term Rental

purposes shall be limited to 90 days per calendar year.

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley23C/Berkeley23C22/Berkeley23C22030.html#23C.22.030


[Type here] ATTACHMENT PROPOSED ORDINANCE CHANGES 

5 

C. Number of Occupants. The maximum number of Short-Term Rental Transients allowed for a Short-Term

Rental unit shall be as provided for in the Berkeley Housing Code (BMC Chapter 19.40).

D. Notification.

(i) Initial, one-time notification of the establishment of a Short-Term Rental by Zoning Certificate and Business

license, shall be provided to the residents of all Adjacent Properties. Notification shall include Host and Local

Contact information. Additional notification shall be required within a week of updated Host  or Local Contact

information.

(ii) In any advertisement for the STR, a Host must include the Zoning Certificate number.

E. Enforcement Fee. For the initial enforcement period, while enforcement costs are being determined, the

Host shall pay an additional enforcement fee in an amount equal to 2% of the rents charged by that Host, not to

exceed the cost of the regulatory program established by this Chapter over time. Such fees may be paid by the

Hosting Platform on behalf of the Host. After the initial enforcement period, the Council may revise the

enforcement fee by resolution.

F. Liability Insurance. Liability insurance is required of the Host, or Hosting Platform on behalf of the Host, in

the amount of at least $1,000,000.

G. Documents Provided to STR Transients. Electronic or paper copies of the Community Noise Ordinance

and Smoke-Free Multi-Unit Housing Ordinance must be provided to STR Transients upon booking and upon

arrival.

H. Transient Occupancy Tax. (“TOT”).  The TOT shall be collected on all Short-Term Rentals.  The Host is

responsible for collecting and remitting the TOT, in coordination with any Hosting Platform, if utilized, to the

City. If a Hosting Platform collects payment for rentals, then both it and the Host shall have legal responsibility

for collection and remittance of the TOT.

I. Housing Platform Responsibilities.

(i) Subject to applicable laws, A Hosting Platform shall disclose to the City on a regular basis each rental listing

located in the City, the names of the person or persons responsible for each such listing, the address of each 

such listing, the length of stay for each such listing, and the price paid for each booking transaction.   

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley19/Berkeley1940/Berkeley1940.html#19.40


[Type here] ATTACHMENT PROPOSED ORDINANCE CHANGES 

6 

(ii) A Hosting Platform shall not complete any booking transaction for any STR unless the Host has a valid

Zoning Certificate at the time the Hosting Platform receives a fee the booking transaction. 

(iii) A Hosting Platform shall not collect or receive a fee for a STR unless the Host has a valid Zoning

Certificate at the time the Hosting Platform would otherwise be entitled to receive a fee for the booking 

transaction. 

(iv) Safe Harbor: A Hosting Platform operating exclusively on the internet, which operates in compliance with

subsections (i), (Ii) and (iii) above, shall be presumed to be in compliance with this Chapter. 

I. Housing Code Compliance. Any building or portion thereof used for Short-Term Rentals shall comply with

the requirements of the Berkeley Housing Code (BMC Chapter 19.40).

J. Payment of Additional Taxes:  The Host shall pay all City taxes and fees owed, in addition to the TOT, if

applicable, in a timely manner.  100

K. The Host shall be responsible for listing on any rental ad the Zoning Certificate number. The Host shall

also provide both the Business License number, if required pursuant to Chapter 9.04, and Zoning Certificate for

the STR to the City and/or a vendor hired by the City to administer this Chapter, upon request.

23C.22.060 Remedies 

A. Compliance with Second-Response Ordinance. The Host shall comply with the Second Response

Ordinance (BMC Chapter 13.48). The Host shall be prohibited from operating Short-Term Rentals for one year

upon issuance of a third violation affidavit.

B. Violation of any provision of this Chapter is punishable as set forth in Chapters 1.20 and 1.28.

C. Violation of any provision of this Chapter is hereby declared to be a public nuisance subject to abatement

under Chapters 1.24, 1.26 and 23B.64.

D. In any enforcement action by the City, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover reasonable

attorneys’ fees and costs; provided that, pursuant to Government Code Section 38773.5, attorneys’ fees shall

only be available in an action or proceeding in which the City has elected, at the commencement of such action

or proceeding, to seek recovery of its own attorneys’ fees. In no action or proceeding shall an award of

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley19/Berkeley1940/Berkeley1940.html#19.40
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley09/Berkeley0904/Berkeley0904.html#9.04
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley13/Berkeley1348/Berkeley1348.html#13.48
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley01/Berkeley0120/Berkeley0120.html#1.20
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley01/Berkeley0128/Berkeley0128.html#1.28
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley01/Berkeley0124/Berkeley0124.html#1.24
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley01/Berkeley0126/Berkeley0126.html#1.26
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley23B/Berkeley23B64/Berkeley23B64.html#23B.64
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=38773.5


[Type here] ATTACHMENT PROPOSED ORDINANCE CHANGES 

7 

attorneys’ fees to a prevailing party exceed the amount of reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred by the City in the 

action or proceeding. 

E. Any resident of the City may bring a private action for injunctive or other relief to prevent or remedy a

public nuisance as defined in this Chapter, or to prevent or remedy any other violation of this Chapter.  No

action may be brought under this subdivision unless and until the prospective plaintiff has given the City and

the prospective defendant(s) at least 30 days written notice of the alleged public nuisance and the City has

failed to initiate proceedings within that period, or after initiation, has failed to diligently prosecute. The

prevailing party in any such action shall be entitled to recover reasonable costs and attorney’s fees.

F. Any occurrence at a Short-Term Rental unit that constitutes a substantial disturbance of the quiet

enjoyment of private or public property in a significant segment of a neighborhood, such as excessive noise or

traffic, obstruction of public streets by crowds or vehicles, public intoxication, the service to or consumption of

alcohol by minors, fights, disturbances of the peace, litter or other similar conditions, constitutes a public

nuisance.

G. It shall be a public nuisance for any STR Transient of a Short-Term Rental unit where an event is taking

place to refuse access to, or interfere with access by, Fire Department or other City personnel responding to an

emergency call or investigating a situation.

H. Notwithstanding any provision of Chapter 13.48 to the contrary, a public nuisance as defined in this

Section shall be subject to remedies set forth in Section 23C.22.060. (Ord. 7521-NS § 1 (part), 2017)

I. A violation of this Chapter by a Host Owner who offers or rents a rent controlled unit, multiple ADU’s,

multiple Accessory Buildings, or a Golden Duplex, may be reported to the Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board for 

investigation by the Board.  Upon report of a violation to the Rent Stabilization Board, the Board is required to 

provide a written report of the investigation within 30 days. Where a violation is found, the Rent Board will 

immediately provide the written report supporting its finding of a violation to the City Attorney’s office for 

remedial action by the City.   

J. The City may issue and serve administrative subpoenas as necessary to obtain specific information

regarding Short-Term Rentals located in the City, including but not limited to, the names of the persons 

responsible for each such listing, the address of each such listing, the length of stay for each such listing and 

the price paid for each stay, to determine whether the STR and related listing complies with this Chapter.  Any 

subpoena issued pursuant to this section shall not require the production of information sooner than 30 days 

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley13/Berkeley1348/Berkeley1348.html#13.48
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/html/Berkeley23C/Berkeley23C22/Berkeley23C22060.html#23C.22.060


[Type here] ATTACHMENT PROPOSED ORDINANCE CHANGES 

8 

from the date of service.  A person or entity that has been served with an administrative subpoena may seek 

judicial review during that 30 day period.   



ACTION CALENDAR 
DATE: March 9, 2021 

To:  Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

From:  Councilmember Terry Taplin, Councilmember Ben Bartlett, Councilmember Rigel 
Robinson (co-sponsors) 

Subject: Affordable Housing Overlay 

RECOMMENDATION 

Refer to the City Manager and Planning Commission revisions to the zoning code and 
General Plan, permitting increased height and density for 100% affordable housing 
developments, including but not limited to: 

1. Exceeding standards set forth in California Government Code Section 65915
(AB-1763) with additional local height and density incentives, including waivers
and modifications similar to those vested in state density bonus law, with
ministerial approval contingent on objective zoning and design criteria, for
qualifying 100% affordable projects deed-restricted for Low, Very Low, Extremely
Low, and Moderate Income households (exclusive of manager’s unit) pursuant to
AB-1763, specifying:

a. In R3, R4, and all C-prefixed zoning districts, a local density bonus in
addition to, and duplicative of, the state density bonus under Government
Code Section 65915 for up to a total of 85’ for qualifying projects;

b. In R-1, R-1A, R-2, and R-2A zones, a local 12’ height bonus for qualifying
projects, waiving density limits and permitting up to 80% lot coverage;

c. In all qualifying transit-adjacent areas, inclusive of all parcels within one-
half mile of a commuter rail station, or within 1/4 mile of an AC Transit bus
route with 7-day service in Fiscal Year 2019, waiving density limits,
including units per acre, floor area ratio, and up to 80% lot coverage;

d. Create General Plan amendments that allow for 100% affordable
qualifying projects to avoid inconsistencies with General Plan densities;

e. Increased density for projects outside of transit proximity threshold
specified in 1(c) above contingent upon additional Transportation Demand
Management (TDM) policies aiming to reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled
(VMT) per capita, including bike parking, paratransit and shared micro-
mobility systems;

f. Skilled and trained workforce standards as defined by the February 18,
2021 version of SB-7 (Atkins) for qualifying projects with at least 50,000
square feet of total floor area;

Item 6.



2. Exempting parcels with Designated Historic Landmarks and maintaining
demolition restrictions consistent with state law;

3. On parcels within high-risk wildfire zones as determined by the California
Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CalFire), ministerial approval for
qualifying projects should be contingent on fire blocking design and defensible
space standards certified by the Planning Department.

Council directs the Planning Commission and staff to codify an Affordable Housing 
Overlay for 100% affordable housing as specified above in 2021-2022 work plans in 
anticipation of 2023-2031 RHNA cycle. Staff and the commission should build upon the 
framework established in Government Code Section 65915 as well as municipal 
implementations of Affordable Housing Overlays in other jurisdictions. 

BACKGROUND 

Berkeley has made insufficient progress on meeting its state-mandated Regional 
Housing Need Allocation (RHNA) goals for low- and moderate-income housing in the 
2014-2022 RHNA cycle. As recently as the city’s 20201 Housing Pipeline Report, the 
city had only fulfilled 23% of its moderate-income RHNA goals, 21% of its RHNA goals 
for Very-Low Income households, and a mere 4% for Low-Income households. 
Berkeley’s next RHNA cycle is estimated to mandate roughly 3 times as many units2 as 
the previous cycle’s total of 2,959 units across all income tiers. SB-330 by Sen. Nancy 
Skinner (D-Berkeley), passed in 2019, requires municipal general plans to zone 
adequately to meet residential capacity mandated by RHNA goals and state-certified 
Housing Elements. 

Affordable housing will continue to be a high priority, but nonprofit affordable housing 
developers may face stiff competition for scarce land with market-rate developers, 
particularly during an anticipated period of economic recovery. In 2019, Governor 
Newsom signed AB-1763 by Assembly member David Chiu (D-SF), amending 
California Government Code 65915 to confer greater fiscal advantages for 100% 
affordable housing developments through state density bonus law. The bill prohibits 
minimum parking requirements (which Berkeley has recently removed) and grants an 
increase of up to 33’ in permitted height, with a waiver on density restrictions for 
projects located within a half-mile of major transit stops. 

When the 42-unit affordable housing project at Harpers Crossing opened in Berkeley, at 
a total project cost of $18 million, over 700 seniors applied. Without substantial funding 
and square footage for affordable housing, the City of Berkeley will be increasingly 
challenged to create enough subsidized housing to meet increasing demand. Increased 
allowable density and streamlined approvals for affordable housing will also be key to 
meeting Berkeley’s RHNA goals for low- and moderate-income housing. 

1 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2020/07_Jul/Documents/2020-07-
28_Item_45_Annual_Housing_Pipeline_Report.aspx&sa=U&ved=2ahUKEwjc3tDIntHuAhXWu54KHdyGAtAQFjABeg
QICRAC&usg=AOvVaw0eXQ4oP5AAL14h0lphPdrr  
2 https://abag.ca.gov/sites/default/files/draft_rhna_allocation_presentation_to_exec_bd_jan_21.pdf  

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2020/07_Jul/Documents/2020-07-28_Item_45_Annual_Housing_Pipeline_Report.aspx&sa=U&ved=2ahUKEwjc3tDIntHuAhXWu54KHdyGAtAQFjABegQICRAC&usg=AOvVaw0eXQ4oP5AAL14h0lphPdrr
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2020/07_Jul/Documents/2020-07-28_Item_45_Annual_Housing_Pipeline_Report.aspx&sa=U&ved=2ahUKEwjc3tDIntHuAhXWu54KHdyGAtAQFjABegQICRAC&usg=AOvVaw0eXQ4oP5AAL14h0lphPdrr
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2020/07_Jul/Documents/2020-07-28_Item_45_Annual_Housing_Pipeline_Report.aspx&sa=U&ved=2ahUKEwjc3tDIntHuAhXWu54KHdyGAtAQFjABegQICRAC&usg=AOvVaw0eXQ4oP5AAL14h0lphPdrr
https://abag.ca.gov/sites/default/files/draft_rhna_allocation_presentation_to_exec_bd_jan_21.pdf


RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION 

As of 2019, development costs in the San Francisco Bay Area averaged $600,000 for 
new housing funded by 9% Low Income Housing Tax Credits.3 At this cost, building 
nearly 4,000 housing units for low- and very low-income households would cost roughly 
$2.5 billion, several orders of magnitude larger than the City of Berkeley’s General Fund 
and Measure O bond funding.  

Additional density bonuses and ministerial approval could reduce per-unit costs for 
affordable housing and increase Berkeley’s capacity to meet its RHNA goals for low- 
and moderate-income housing. Increasing height limits allows smaller sites to fit enough 
homes to reach the economy of scale needed for affordable housing. According to an 
October 2014 report on affordable housing development by several state housing 
agencies, “for each 10 percent increase in the number of units, the cost per unit 
declines by 1.7 percent.”4 A 2020 study by UC Berkeley’s Terner Center on affordable 
housing projects funded by 9% Low Income Housing Tax Credits reported: “On 
average, efficiencies of scale translate into a reduction of about $1,162 for every 
additional unit in a project.”5 

Increased density and streamlined, predictable permitting processes through ministerial 
review can increase the amount of affordable housing that limited public subsidies are 
able to provide. In San Francisco, a new affordable housing project at 833 Bryant St 
using modular construction qualified for ministerial review under state law and “is on 
pace to build homes, conservatively, about 30 percent faster and at 25 percent less cost 
per unit than the similar project.”6 

There is existing precedent in the state of California for meeting low-income RHNA 
goals with an Affordable Housing Overlay. In eastern Contra Costa County, the newly-
incorporated city of Oakley established an Affordable Housing Overlay in 2005, which 
has yielded 7 affordable housing developments totaling 509 housing units combined as 
of 2019.7 Despite local opposition to low-income housing, the AHO enabled the city to 
obtain state certification for its first 2001-2007 Housing Element, procure funding from 
the county, and meet its low-income RHNA goals by rezoning 16.3 acres for multifamily 
housing. 

3 Reid, C. (2020). The Costs of Affordable Housing Production: Insights from California’s 9% Low-Income Housing 
Tax Credit Program. UC Berkeley Terner Center for Housing Innovation. Retrieved from 
https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/pdfs/LIHTC_Construction_Costs_March_2020.pdf  
4 California Department of Housing and Community Development, et al. (2014). Affordable Housing Cost Study: 
Analysis of the Factors that Influence the Cost of Building Multi-Family Affordable Housing in California. Retrieved 
from https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/ctcac/affordable_housing.pdf 
5 See footnote 3. 
6 Decker. N. (2021). Strategies to Lower Cost and Speed Housing Production: A Case Study of San Francisco’s 833 
Bryant Street Project. UC Berkeley Terner Center for Housing Innovation. Retrieved from 
https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/833-Bryant-February-2021.pdf 
7 UC Berkeley Terner Center for Housing Innovation. (2019). Affordable Housing Overlays: Oakley. Retrieved from 
https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Affordable_Housing_Overlay_Zones_Oakley.pdf 

https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/pdfs/LIHTC_Construction_Costs_March_2020.pdf
https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Affordable_Housing_Overlay_Zones_Oakley.pdf


According to the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG), 28 jurisdictions in the 
9-county Bay Area have some form of Housing Overlay Zone policy.8

According to a 2010 fact sheet by Public Advocates and East Bay Housing 
Organizations (EBHO), “the more valuable the developer incentives included in a 
Housing Overlay Zone, the more effective the HOZ will be in encouraging production of 
homes that people can afford. Desirable incentives both motivate developers to take 
advantage of the HOZ, and reduce development costs to allow construction of more 
affordable homes.”9 

The City Council of Cambridge, Massachusetts passed an Affordable Housing Overlay 
amendment to its zoning code in October of 2020.10 The City Council of Somerville, MA 
passed a similar zoning ordinance in December of 2020. These zoning overlays permit 
greater height and density for ministerial approval 100% Below Market-Rate housing 
developments, following objective design criteria, in residential and commercial zones. 
The intent of these ordinances is to increase the availability of infill sites with an 
advantage for affordable housing development where nonprofit and public entities may 
otherwise be unable to compete win the private market, as well as promoting a more 
equitable distribution of affordable housing in cities where class and racial segregation 
still mirrors the historical legacy of redlining and Jim Crow-era racial covenants. 

These ordinances preserve open space requirements and comport with restrictions on 
historic districts. The Somerville11 and Cambridge12 Overlays were overwhelmingly 
supported by nonprofit affordable housing developers and activists. The city of Boston is 
now considering similar proposals.13 

Prior to introduction of the city’s Affordable Housing Overlay policy, Somerville City 
Councilor Ben Ewen-Campen, chair of the council’s Land Use Committee, directed city 

8 http://housing.abag.ca.gov/policysearch  
9 http://www.friendsofrpe.org/files/HOZ_Fact_Sheet_FINAL_7-27-10%282%29.pdf  
10 Sennott, A. (2020). Mayor: ‘An important social justice moment.’ Councilors pass Affordable Housing Overlay 
after more than 20 community meetings. WickedLocal.com. Retrieved from  
https://www.wickedlocal.com/story/cambridge-chronicle-tab/2020/10/06/an-important-social-justice-moment-
cambridge-councilors-pass-affordable-housing-overlay/114657068/  
11 Taliesin, J. (2020). Somerville moves to facilitate local affordable housing development. WickedLocal.com. 
Retrieved from https://www.wickedlocal.com/story/somerville-journal/2020/11/23/residents-support-citys-move-
ease-affordable-housing-development/6328944002/  
12 Eisner, D. (2020). The Historic Affordable Housing Overlay Is about to Pass. How Did It Overcome so Many 
Obstacles? A Better Cambridge. Retrieved from 
https://www.abettercambridge.org/the_historic_affordable_housing_overlay_is_about_to_pass_how_did_it_over
come_so_many_obstacles  
13 Logan, T. (2020). Boston to consider looser zoning for affordable housing. The Boston Herald. Retrieved from 
https://www.bostonglobe.com/2020/08/24/business/boston-mull-looser-zoning-affordable-housing/  

http://housing.abag.ca.gov/policysearch
http://www.friendsofrpe.org/files/HOZ_Fact_Sheet_FINAL_7-27-10%282%29.pdf
https://www.wickedlocal.com/story/cambridge-chronicle-tab/2020/10/06/an-important-social-justice-moment-cambridge-councilors-pass-affordable-housing-overlay/114657068/
https://www.wickedlocal.com/story/cambridge-chronicle-tab/2020/10/06/an-important-social-justice-moment-cambridge-councilors-pass-affordable-housing-overlay/114657068/
https://www.wickedlocal.com/story/somerville-journal/2020/11/23/residents-support-citys-move-ease-affordable-housing-development/6328944002/
https://www.wickedlocal.com/story/somerville-journal/2020/11/23/residents-support-citys-move-ease-affordable-housing-development/6328944002/
https://www.abettercambridge.org/the_historic_affordable_housing_overlay_is_about_to_pass_how_did_it_overcome_so_many_obstacles
https://www.abettercambridge.org/the_historic_affordable_housing_overlay_is_about_to_pass_how_did_it_overcome_so_many_obstacles
https://www.bostonglobe.com/2020/08/24/business/boston-mull-looser-zoning-affordable-housing/


staff to survey the region’s affordable housing. “Overwhelmingly, we heard about two 
obstacles,” Ewen-Campen wrote.14  

First, and most obviously, is the cost of land. Today, it is nearly impossible for any 
non-profit housing developer to purchase property in Somerville. This is no 
surprise: they are competing against “market rate” developers and investors who 
can afford to pay far more because they’ll soon be making windfall profits in our 
red-hot real estate market. Second, the funding agencies that support affordable 
housing are looking for predictability and certainty in the projects they support. This 
means that the uncertainty, delays, and discretionary nature of the permitting 
process in Somerville can be a major issue when attempting to secure funding. 
Together, these two obstacles mean that new affordable units in Somerville are 
almost always created by market rate developers through Somerville’s “20% 
inclusionary zoning” policy, which is absolutely necessary but nowhere near 
sufficient to meet Somerville’s goals for affordability. 

Affordable housing nonprofits in California face similar fiscal and regulatory barriers to 
developing much-needed low- and moderate-income housing. While Berkeley does not 
have an abundance of vacant and/or publicly-owned land close to transit to help meet 
these goals, an Affordable Housing Overlay permitting more density for residential uses 
on commercial corridors for 100% affordable housing can tap into a larger subset of 
commercial parcels with residential potential in the city. According to a study by the UC 
Berkeley Terner Center for Housing Innovation, mid-sized cities in the San Francisco 
Bay Area have an average of 32.4% of land zoned for commercial uses, and this land 
tends to be evenly distributed between high- and low-opportunity neighborhoods as 
defined by the state’s Tax Credit Allocation Committee.15  

An overlay for 100% affordable housing with density bonuses and ministerial review are 
critical for ensuring that residential zoning does not exclude affordable housing for low- 
and moderate-income households from high-opportunity neighborhoods, a necessary 
precondition for the city to comply with fair housing law. 

Pursuant to Assembly Bill 686 (Santiago) passed in 2018, jurisdictions are required to 
produce housing elements that comply with the Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing 
rule published by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) on 
July 16, 2015. The bill defines this requirement in the context of housing elements as 
“taking meaningful actions that, taken together, address significant disparities in housing 
needs and in access to opportunity, replacing segregated living patterns with truly 
integrated and balanced living patterns, transforming racially and ethnically 

14 Ewen-Campen, B. (2020). We need a city-wide ‘Affordable Housing Overlay District’ in Somerville. The Somerville 
Times. Retrieved from https://www.thesomervilletimes.com/archives/103539  
15 Romem, I. & Garcia, D. (2020). Residential Redevelopment of Commercially Zoned Land in California. UC 
Berkeley Terner Center for Housing Innovation. Retrieved from https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-
content/uploads/2020/12/Residential-Redevelopment-of-Commercially-Zoned-Land-in-California-December-
2020.pdf  

https://www.thesomervilletimes.com/archives/103539
https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Residential-Redevelopment-of-Commercially-Zoned-Land-in-California-December-2020.pdf
https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Residential-Redevelopment-of-Commercially-Zoned-Land-in-California-December-2020.pdf
https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Residential-Redevelopment-of-Commercially-Zoned-Land-in-California-December-2020.pdf


concentrated areas of poverty into areas of opportunity, and fostering and maintaining 
compliance with civil rights and fair housing laws.”16 

Zoning standards that prohibit densities needed for more affordable housing in high-
opportunity neighborhoods risk exacerbating gentrification and displacement. According 
to research by the UC Berkeley Urban Displacement Center, 83% of today’s gentrifying 
areas were rated “hazardous” or “declining” by the Home Owners Loan Corporation 
(HOLC), in part due to their Black and Asian populations, and denied federal mortgage 
insurance in the agency’s infamous redlining maps of the early 20th Century. “Desirable” 
neighborhoods with federal mortgage insurance were restricted to white homebuyers, 
and 75% of those neighborhoods are still measurably exclusionary today.17  

The Urban Displacement Project has also reported that “subsidized housing is twice as 
effective as market-rate housing in mitigating displacement,” and Cash & Zuk (2019) 
recommend “equitable development considerations” which include “open[ing] up high-
opportunity neighborhoods to low-income households.”18 Additionally, the researchers 
recommend local preference or right to return policies “to stabilize neighborhoods as 
new developments take root,” and the City of Berkeley has implemented a local 
preference policy as part of the Adeline Corridor Specific Plan.19 

As the Home for All SMC Housing Overlay Zone fact sheet explains: “In locations where 
the zoning doesn’t allow residential development, HOZs can enable housing 
construction while avoiding the lengthy process of amending a general plan.”20 This 
proposal only refers broad recommendations for general plan amendments to the 
Planning Commission to align intended outcomes of the Affordable Housing Overlay 
with general plan revisions that will result from the upcoming Housing Element update, 
but a robust Overlay can continue to promote 100% affordable housing development in 
future cycles when general plan amendments are not under consideration. 

Additionally, an enhanced density bonus program with robust skilled and trained 
workforce standards can incorporate consistent labor standards21 into beneficial 
economies of scale as innovations in the construction industry such as cross-laminated 
timber or modular housing offer faster and cheaper construction for nonprofit affordable 
housing developers, so that projects with reduced construction costs still guarantee 
prevailing wages.  

16 https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB686  
17 Cash, A. (2020). Redlining in Berkeley: the Past is Present. Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board. Retrieved from 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Rent_Stabilization_Board/Level_3_-
_General/SPECIAL_Item%206._Redlining%20in%20Berkeley%20presentation_02.20.20_FINAL(2).pdf  
18 Cash, A & Zuk, M. (2019). Investment Without Displacement: From Slogan to Strategy. Shelterforce. Retrieved 
from https://shelterforce.org/2019/06/21/investment-without-displacement-from-slogan-to-strategy/ 
19 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-
_Land_Use_Division/Adeline%20Corridor%20Specific%20Plan%20Nov.%202020.pdf  
20 https://homeforallsmc.org/toolkits/housing-overlay-zones/  
21 https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220SB7  

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB686
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Rent_Stabilization_Board/Level_3_-_General/SPECIAL_Item%206._Redlining%20in%20Berkeley%20presentation_02.20.20_FINAL(2).pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Rent_Stabilization_Board/Level_3_-_General/SPECIAL_Item%206._Redlining%20in%20Berkeley%20presentation_02.20.20_FINAL(2).pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Land_Use_Division/Adeline%20Corridor%20Specific%20Plan%20Nov.%202020.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Land_Use_Division/Adeline%20Corridor%20Specific%20Plan%20Nov.%202020.pdf
https://homeforallsmc.org/toolkits/housing-overlay-zones/
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220SB7


ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 

Due to aforementioned state laws, there is no alternative in which the City of Berkeley 
does not rezone certain areas to meet its upcoming RHNA goals and have a certified 
Housing Element. While the city could simply abide by the standards set forth in AB-
1763 with no additional incentives or streamlining for 100% affordable housing, this 
would risk insufficiently prioritizing low- and moderate-income housing, and is 
inconsistent with goals already identified by the City Manager’s office to reduce 
homelessness and housing insecurity. 

The City Manager’s 1000 Person Plan to End Homelessness22 includes among its 
strategic recommendations: 

“Continue implementing changes to Berkeley’s Land Use, Zoning, and Development 
Review Requirements for new housing with an eye towards alleviating homelessness. If 
present economic trends continue, the pace with which new housing is currently being 
built in Berkeley will likely not allow for a declining annual homeless population. 
Berkeley should continue to streamline development approval processes and reform 
local policies to help increase the overall supply of housing available.” 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS 

Research from UC Berkeley scholars and the CoolClimate Network23 finds that urban 
offers one of the greatest potential policy levers for municipalities to reduce their 
greenhouse gas emissions. Incentives for affordable housing, such as density bonuses, 
also offer potential to reduce per capita VMT by increasing housing options in Berkeley 
and shortening commute times for a greater share of the local workforce. In an analysis 
of 252 California Cities, Durst (2021) finds that “each additional affordable housing 
incentive is associated with a 0.37 percentage point decrease in the share of workers 
who commute more than 30 minutes.”24 

An Affordable Housing Overlay coupled with the city’s Local Preference policy could 
reduce Berkeley’s transportation emissions by reducing per capita VMT pursuant to 
goals established in the city’s Climate Action Plan. 

FISCAL IMPACTS 

TBD.  

22 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/02_Feb/Documents/2019-02-
26_Item_20_Referral_Response__1000_Person_Plan.aspx  
23 Jones, C. et al. (2017). Carbon Footprint Planning: Quantifying Local and State Mitigation 
Opportunities for 700 California Cities. Urban Planning, 3(2). doi:10.17645/up.v3i2.1218. 
24 Durst, N. J. (2021). Residential Land Use Regulation and the Spatial Mismatch between Housing and Employment 
Opportunities in California Cities. Terner Center for Housing Innovation. Retrieved from 
http://californialanduse.org/download/Durst%20Residential%20Land%20Use%20Regulation%202020.pdf  

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/02_Feb/Documents/2019-02-26_Item_20_Referral_Response__1000_Person_Plan.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/02_Feb/Documents/2019-02-26_Item_20_Referral_Response__1000_Person_Plan.aspx
http://californialanduse.org/download/Durst%20Residential%20Land%20Use%20Regulation%202020.pdf


The City Manager’s 1000 Person Plan to End Homelessness notes that the fiscal 
impact of land use reform “could not be quantified” at the time the report was issued. 

CONTACT 

Councilmember Terry Taplin (District 2), 510-983-7120, ttaplin@cityofberkeley.info 

ATTACHMENTS/SUPPORTING MATERIALS 
1. Cambridge, MA: Ordinance No. 2020-8
2. Assembly Bill 1763 (2019)



ORDINANCE NO. 2020-8 – First Publication 

CITY OF CAMBRIDGE 

In the Year Two Thousand and Twenty 

AN ORDINANCE 

ORDERED: That the attached proposed zoning ordinance establishing an Affordable Housing Overlay 
be submitted by the City Council, and that it be referred to the Committee on Ordinances 
and the Planning Board for public hearings, as provided in Chapter 40A, Section 5 of the 
Massachusetts General Laws, to wit: 

ORDERED: That the Cambridge City Council amend Section 2.000, DEFINITIONS, of the Zoning 
Ordinance of the City of Cambridge amended to insert the following definitions 
alphabetically: 

Affordable Housing Overlay (AHO). A set of modified development 
standards set forth in Section 11.207.3 of this Zoning Ordinance intended 
to allow incremental increases in density, limited increases in height, and 
relaxation of certain other zoning limitations for residential 
developments in which all units are made permanently affordable to 
households earning up to 100% of area median income.  

Affordable Housing Overlay (AHO) Dwelling Unit. A dwelling unit 
within an AHO Project for which occupancy is restricted to an AHO 
Eligible Household and whose rent or initial sale price is established by 
the provisions of Section 11.207.3 of this Zoning Ordinance.  

Affordable Housing Overlay (AHO) Eligible Household. A household 
whose gross household income does not exceed the amounts set forth in 
Section 11.207.3 of this Zoning Ordinance.  

Affordable Housing Overlay (AHO) Project. The construction of a 
new building or buildings and/or the modification of an existing building 
or buildings resulting in single-family, two-family, townhouse, or 
multifamily dwellings within which each dwelling unit is an AHO 
Dwelling Unit subject to the standards and restrictions set forth in 
Section 11.207 of this Zoning Ordinance.  

Grade. The mean finished ground elevation of a lot measured either 
around the entire perimeter of the building or along any existing wall 
facing a public street, which ground elevation is maintained naturally 
without any structural support.  

Attachment 1



Ground Story or Ground Floor. The lowest Story Above Grade within 
a building. Story. That portion of a building included between the upper 
surface of a floor and the upper surface of the floor or roof next above.  

Story Above Grade. A Story whose highest point is more than 4 feet 
above the Grade.  

Story Below Grade. Any Story that is lower than the Ground Story of a 
building.  

ORDERED: That the Cambridge City Council amend of the Zoning Ordinance of the City of 
Cambridge, by inserting a new section 11.207, AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
OVERLAY, to read as follows: 

11.207.1        Purpose and Intent  

The purpose of this Section is to promote the public good by 
supporting the development of housing that is affordable to 
households earning up to 100% of area median income. The intent 
of this Section is to allow incremental increases in density, limited 
increases in height, and relaxation of certain other zoning 
limitations for residential developments in which all units are made 
permanently affordable to households earning up to 100% of area 
median income (referred to as “AHO Projects,” as defined in 
Article 2.000 of this Zoning Ordinance); to incentivize the reuse of 
existing buildings in order to create AHO Projects that are more 
compatible with established neighborhood character; to promote 
the city’s urban design objectives in Section 19.30 of this Zoning 
Ordinance while enabling AHO Projects to be permitted as-of-
right, subject to non-binding advisory design consultation 
procedures that follow all design objectives set forth within this 
Zoning Ordinance and the results of the design review process 
shall be provided to the Cambridge Affordable Housing Trust; and 
to apply such standards throughout the City, to promote city 
planning goals of achieving greater socioeconomic diversity and a 
more equitable distribution of affordable housing citywide. 

11.207.2 Applicability 

(a) The provisions set forth in this Section shall apply to AHO
Projects, as defined in Article 2.000 of this Zoning
Ordinance, in all zoning districts except Open Space
Districts.

(b) An AHO Project shall be permitted as-of-right if it meets
all of the standards set forth in this Affordable Housing
Overlay in place of the requirements otherwise applicable
in the zoning district. Any development not meeting all of



the standards set forth in this Affordable Housing Overlay 
shall be subject to the requirements otherwise applicable in 
the zoning district, including any requirements for special 
permits. 

11.207.3 Standards for Eligibility, Rent, and Initial Sale Price 
for AHO Dwelling Units 

(a) All dwelling units in an AHO Project shall comply with the
standards for AHO Dwelling Units as set forth in this
Section.

(b) For all AHO Dwelling Units:

(i) AHO Dwelling Units shall be rented or sold only to
AHO Eligible Households, with preference given to
Cambridge residents, and former Cambridge
residents who experienced a no-fault eviction in
Cambridge in the last twelve (12) months, in
accordance with standards and procedures related to
selection, asset limits, and marketing established by
the Community Development Department (CDD)
and applicable state funding requirements.

(ii) AHO Dwelling Units shall be created and conveyed
subject to recorded covenants approved by CDD
guaranteeing the permanent availability of the AHO
Dwelling Units for AHO Eligible Households.

(c) For rental AHO Dwelling Units:

(i) The gross household income of an AHO Eligible
Household upon initial occupancy shall be no more
than one-hundred percent (100%) of AMI.

(ii) At least eighty percent (80%) of AHO Dwelling
Units within the project shall be occupied by AHO
Eligible Households whose gross household income
upon initial occupancy is no more than eighty
percent (80%) of AMI.

(iii) Rent, including utilities and any other fees routinely
charged to tenants and approved by CDD, shall not
exceed thirty percent (30%) of the gross household
income of the AHO Eligible Household occupying
the AHO Dwelling Unit or other similar standard
pursuant to an applicable housing subsidy program
which has been approved by CDD.



(iv) After initial occupancy, the gross household income
of an AHO Eligible Household shall be verified
annually, or on such other basis required by an
applicable housing subsidy program which has been
approved by CDD, to determine continued
eligibility and rent, in accordance with policies,
standards, and procedures established by CDD.

(v) An AHO Eligible Household may continue to rent
an AHO Dwelling Unit after initial occupancy even
if the AHO Eligible Household’s gross household
income exceeds the eligibility limits set forth above,
but may not exceed one hundred twenty percent
(120%) of AMI for more than one year after that
Eligible Household’s gross household income has
been verified to exceed such percentage, unless
otherwise restricted pursuant to an applicable
housing subsidy program which has been approved
by CDD.

(vi) Notwithstanding the requirements set forth in (i)
through (v) above, an owner may voluntarily choose
to charge a lower rent than as provided herein for
AHO Dwelling Units.

(d) For owner-occupied AHO Dwelling Units:

(i) The gross household income of an AHO Eligible
Household upon initial occupancy shall be no more
than one-hundred percent (100%) of AMI.

(ii) At least fifty percent (50%) of AHO Dwelling Units
shall be sold to AHO Eligible Households whose
gross household income upon initial occupancy is
no more than eighty percent (80%) of AMI.

(iii) The initial sale price of an AHO Dwelling Unit
shall be approved by CDD and shall be determined
to ensure that the monthly housing payment (which
shall include debt service at prevailing mortgage
loan interest rates, utilities, condominium or related
fees, insurance, real estate taxes, and parking fees, if
any) shall not exceed thirty percent (30%) of the
monthly income of:

1) A household earning ninety percent (90%)
of AMI, in the case of an AHO Dwelling
Unit to be sold to an AHO Eligible
Household whose income upon initial



occupancy is no more than one-hundred 
percent (100%) of AMI; or 

2) A household earning seventy percent (70%)
of AMI, in the case of an AHO Dwelling
Unit to be sold to an AHO Eligible
Household whose income upon initial
occupancy is no more than eighty percent
(80%) of AMI

(e) An AHO Project meeting the standards set forth herein as
approved by CDD shall not be required to comply with the
Inclusionary Housing Requirements set forth in 11.203 of
this Zoning Ordinance.

11.207.4 Use 

(a) In all zoning districts, an AHO Project may contain single-
family, two-family, townhouse, or multifamily dwellings
as-of-right. Townhouse and Multifamily Special Permit
procedures shall not apply.

(b) An AHO Project may contain active non-residential uses on
the ground floor as they may be permitted as-of-right in the
base zoning district or the overlay district(s) that are
applicable to a lot, which for the purpose of this Section
shall be limited to Institutional Uses listed in Section 4.33,
Office Uses listed in Section 4.34 Paragraphs a. through e.,
and Retail and Consumer Service uses listed in Section
4.35 that provide services to the general public.

11.207.5 Development Standards  

11.207.5.1 General Provisions 

(a) For the purposes of this Section, the phrase “District
Development Standards” shall refer to the development
standards of the base zoning district as they may be
modified by the development standards of all overlay
districts (with the exception of this Affordable Housing
Overlay) that are applicable to a lot.

(b) District Dimensional Standards shall include the most
permissive standards allowable on a lot, whether such
standards are permitted as-of-right or allowable by special
permit. A District Dimensional Standard that is allowable
by special permit shall include any nondiscretionary
requirements or limitations that would otherwise apply.



(c) An AHO Project that conforms to the following
development standards shall not be subject to other
limitations that may be set forth in Article 5.000 or other
Sections of this Zoning Ordinance, except as otherwise
stated in this Section.

11.207.5.2 Dimensional Standards for AHO Projects  

11.207.5.2.1 Building Height and Stories Above Grade. For an 
AHO Project, the standards set forth below shall 
apply in place of any building height limitations set 
forth in the District Development Standards.  

(a) Where the District Dimensional Standards set forth a
maximum residential building height of forty (40) feet or
less, an AHO Project shall contain no more than four (4)
Stories Above Grade and shall have a maximum height of
forty-five (45) feet, as measured from existing Grade. For
AHO Projects containing active non-residential uses on the
ground floor, the maximum height may be increased to fifty
(50) feet but the number of Stories Above Grade shall not
exceed four (4) stories.

(b) Where the District Dimensional Standards set forth a
maximum residential building height of more than forty
(40) feet but not more than fifty (50) feet, an AHO Project
shall contain no more than six (6) Stories Above Grade and
shall have a maximum height of sixty-five (65) feet, as
measured from existing Grade, except as further limited
below. For AHO Projects containing active non-residential
uses on the ground floor, the maximum height may be
increased to seventy (70) feet but the number of Stories
Above Grade shall not exceed six (6) stories.

(i) Except where the AHO Project abuts a non-
residential use, portions of an AHO Project that are
within thirty-five (35) feet of a district whose
District Dimensional Standards allow a maximum
residential building height of forty (40) feet or less
shall be limited by the provisions of Paragraph (a)
above, except that if the AHO project parcel
extends into that District, then the height limitation
shall only extend thirty five (35) feet from the
property line.

(c) Where the District Dimensional Standards set forth a
maximum residential building height of more than fifty
(50) feet, an AHO Project shall contain no more than seven
(7) Stories Above Grade and shall have a maximum height



of eighty (80) feet, as measured from existing Grade, 
except as further limited below. 

(i) Except where the AHO Project abuts a non-
residential use, portions of an AHO Project that are
within thirty-five (35) feet of a district whose
District Dimensional Standards allow a maximum
residential building height of forty (40) feet or less
shall be reduced to a minimum of five (5) Stories
Above Grade or a maximum height of sixty (60)
feet, as measured from existing Grade, except that if
the AHO project parcel extends into that District,
then the height limitation shall only extend thirty
five (35) feet from the property line.

(d) The Height Exceptions set forth in Section 5.23 of this
Zoning Ordinance shall apply when determining the
building height of an AHO Project.

11.207.5.2.2 Residential Density 

(a) Where the District Dimensional Standards establish a
maximum floor area ratio (FAR) of less than 1.00, an AHO
Project shall not exceed an FAR of 2.00. Otherwise, there
shall be no maximum FAR for an AHO Project.

(b) There shall be no minimum lot area per dwelling unit for an
AHO Project.

11.207.5.2.3 Yard Setbacks 

(a) For the purpose of this Section, the applicable District
Dimensional Standards shall not include yard setback
requirements based on a formula calculation as provided in
Section 5.24.4 of the Zoning Ordinance, but shall include
non-derived minimum yard setback requirements set forth
in Article 5.000 or other Sections of this Zoning Ordinance.

(b) Front Yards. An AHO Project shall have a minimum front
yard setback of 15 feet, except where the District
Dimensional Standards establish a less restrictive
requirement, or may be reduced tp the average of the front
yard setbacks of the four (4) nearest pre-existing principal
buildings that contain at least two Stories Above Grade and
directly front the same side of the street as the AHO
Project, or may be reduced to a minimum of ten (10) feet in
the case of an AHO Project on a corner lot. Where the
District Dimensional Standards set forth different
requirements for residential and non-residential uses, the



non-residential front yard setback requirement shall apply 
to the entire AHO Project if the Ground Story contains a 
non-residential use as set forth in Section 11.207.4 
Paragraph (b) above; otherwise, the residential front yard 
setback shall apply. 

(c) Side Yards. An AHO Project shall have a minimum side
yard setback of seven and one-half (7.5) feet, or may be
reduced to the minimum side yard setback set forth in the
District Dimensional Standards for residential uses that is
not derived by formula if it is less restrictive.

(d) Rear Yards. An AHO Project shall have a minimum rear
yard setback of twenty (20) feet, or may be reduced to the
minimum rear yard setback set forth in the District
Dimensional Standards for residential uses that is not
derived by formula if it is less restrictive.

(e) Projecting eaves, chimneys, bay windows, balconies, open
fire escapes and like projections which do not project more
than three and one-half (3.5) feet from the principal exterior
wall plane, and unenclosed steps, unroofed porches and the
like which do not project more than ten (10) feet beyond
the line of the foundation wall and which are not over four
(4) feet above Grade, may extend beyond the minimum
yard setback.

(f) Bicycle parking spaces, whether short-term or long-term,
and appurtenant structures such as coverings, sheds, or
storage lockers may be located within a required yard
setback but no closer than seven and one-half (7.5) feet to
an existing principal residential structure on an abutting lot.

11.207.5.2.4 Open Space 

(a) Except where the District Dimensional Standards establish
a less restrictive requirement or as otherwise provided
below, the minimum percentage of open space to lot area
for an AHO Project shall be thirty percent (30%). However,
the minimum percentage of open space to lot area may be
reduced to no less than fifteen percent (15%) if the AHO
Project includes the preservation and protection of an
existing building included on the State Register of Historic
Places.

(b) The required open space shall be considered Private Open
Space but shall be subject to the limitations set forth below
and shall not be subject to the dimensional and other
limitations set forth in Section 5.22 of this Zoning



Ordinance. Private Open Space shall exclude parking and 
driveways for automobiles. 

(c) All of the required open space that is located at grade shall
meet the definition of Permeable Open Space as set forth in
this Zoning Ordinance.

(d) The required open space shall be located at Grade or on
porches and decks that are no higher than the floor
elevation of the lowest Story Above Grade, except that up
to twenty five percent (25%) of the required open space
may be located at higher levels, such as balconies and
decks, only if it is accessible to all occupants of the
building.

(e) For the purpose of this Affordable Housing Overlay, area
used for covered or uncovered bicycle parking spaces that
are not contained within a building shall be considered
Private Open Space.

11.207.5.3 Standards for Existing Buildings  

A building that is in existence as of the effective date of this 
Ordinance and does not conform to the standards set forth in 
Section 11.207.5.2 above may be altered, reconstructed, extended, 
relocated, and/or enlarged for use as an AHO Project as-of-right in 
accordance with the standards set forth below. Except as otherwise 
stated, the required dimensional characteristics of the building and 
site shall be those existing at the time of the conversion to an AHO 
Project if they do not conform to the standards of Section 
11.207.5.2. The following modifications shall be permitted as-of-
right, notwithstanding the limitations set forth in Article 8.000 of 
this Zoning Ordinance: 

(a) Construction occurring entirely within an existing structure,
including the addition of Gross Floor Area within the
interior of the existing building envelope that may violate
or further violate FAR limitations set forth in Section
11.207.5.2, and including any increase to the number of
dwelling units within the existing building, provided that
the resulting number of Stories Above Grade is not more
than the greater of the existing number of Stories Above
Grade or the existing height of the building divided by 10
feet.

(b) The relocation, enlargement, or addition of windows,
doors, skylights, or similar openings to the exterior of a
building.



(c) The addition of insulation to the exterior of an existing 
exterior wall to improve energy efficiency, provided that 
the resulting exterior plane of the wall shall either conform 
to the yard setback standards set forth in Section 11.207.5.2 
above or shall not intrude more than eight (8) inches further 
into the existing yard setback and provided that the lot shall 
either conform to the open space standards set forth in 
Section 11.207.5.2 or shall not decrease the existing open 
space by more than 5% or 100 square feet, whichever is 
greater. 

(d) The installation of exterior features necessary for the 
existing structure to be adapted to meet accessibility 
standards for persons with disabilities, including but not 
limited to walkways, ramps, lifts, or elevators, which may 
violate or further violate of the dimensional requirements 
set forth in Section 11.207.5.2. 

(e) The repair, reconstruction, or replacement of any 
preexisting nonconforming portions of a building including 
but not limited to porches, decks, balconies, bay windows 
and building additions, provided that the repair, 
reconstruction or replacement does not exceed the original 
in footprint, volume, or area. 

(f) Any other alterations, additions, extensions, or 
enlargements to the existing building that are not further in 
violation of the dimensional requirements set forth in 
Section 11.207.5.2 above. 

11.207.6 Parking and Bicycle Parking 

The limitations set forth in Article 6.000 of this Zoning Ordinance 
shall be modified as set forth below for an AHO Project. 

11.207.6.1 Required Off-Street Accessory Parking 

(a) There shall be no required minimum number of off-street 
parking spaces for an AHO Project except to the extent 
necessary to conform to other applicable laws, codes, or 
regulations. 

(b) An AHO Project of greater than 20 units, for which no off-
street parking is provided shall provide or have access to 
either on-street or off-street facilities that can accommodate 
passenger pick-up and drop-off by motor vehicles and 
short-term loading by moving vans or small delivery 
trucks. The Cambridge Traffic, Parking, and Transportation 
Department shall certify to the Superintendent of Buildings 



that the AHO Project is designed to reasonably 
accommodate such activity without causing significant 
hazard or congestion. The Cambridge Director of Traffic, 
Parking, and Transportation shall have the authority to 
promulgate regulations for the implementation of the 
provisions of this Paragraph. 

11.207.6.2 Accessory Parking Provided Off-Site 

(a) Off-street parking facilities may be shared by multiple
AHO Projects, provided that the requirements of this
Section are met by all AHO Dwelling Units served by the
facility and the facility is within 1,000 feet of all AHO
Projects that it serves.

(b) Off-street parking facilities for an AHO Project may be
located within existing parking facilities located within
1,000 feet of the AHO Project and in a district where
parking is permitted as a principal use or where the facility
is a pre-existing nonconforming principal use parking
facility, provided that the owner of the AHO Project shall
provide evidence of fee ownership, a long-term lease
agreement or renewable short-term lease agreement,
recorded covenant, or comparable legal instrument to
guarantee, to the reasonable satisfaction of the
Superintendent of Buildings, that such facilities will be
available to residents of the AHO Project.

11.207.6.3 Modifications to Design and Layout Standards for 
Off-Street Parking 

(a) Notwithstanding Section 6.43.2, parking spaces may be
arranged in tandem without requiring a special permit,
provided that no more than two cars may be parked within
any tandem parking space.

(b) Notwithstanding Section 6.43.6, owners of adjacent
properties may establish common driveways under mutual
easements without requiring a special permit.

(c) Notwithstanding Paragraph 6.44.1(a), on-grade open
parking spaces may be located within ten (10) feet but not
less than five (5) feet from the Ground Story of a building
on the same lot or seven and one-half (7.5) feet from the
Ground Story of a building on an adjacent lot without
requiring a special permit, provided that such parking
spaces are screened from buildings on abutting lots by a
fence or other dense year-round visual screen.



(d) Notwithstanding Paragraph 6.44.1(b), on-grade open 
parking spaces and driveways may be located within five 
(5) feet of a side or rear property line without requiring a 
special permit, provided that screening is provided in the 
form of a fence or other dense year-round visual screen at 
the property line, unless such screening is waived by 
mutual written agreement of the owner of the lot and the 
owner of the abutting lot. 

11.207.6.4 Modifications to Bicycle Parking Standards 

(a) Notwithstanding Section 6.104, long-term or short-term 
bicycle parking spaces may be located anywhere on the lot 
for an AHO Project or on an adjacent lot in common 
ownership or under common control. 

(b) Notwithstanding Section 6.107.5, up to 20 long-term 
bicycle parking spaces may be designed to meet the 
requirements for Short-Term Bicycle Parking Spaces, so 
long as they are covered from above to be protected from 
precipitation. 

(c) The requirement for short-term bicycle parking shall be 
waived where only four of fewer short-term bicycle parking 
spaces would otherwise be required. 

(d) The number of required bicycle parking spaces shall be 
reduced by half, up to a maximum reduction of 28 spaces, 
where a standard-size (19-dock) Public Bicycle Sharing 
Station is provided on the lot or by the developer of the 
AHO Project on a site within 500 feet of the lot, with the 
written approval of the City if located on a public street or 
other City property, or otherwise by legally enforceable 
mutual agreement with the owner of the land on which the 
station is located as approved by the Community 
Development Department. If additional Public Bicycle 
Sharing Station docks are provided, the number of required 
bicycle parking spaces may be further reduced at a rate of 
0.5 bicycle parking space per additional Public Bicycle 
Sharing Station dock, up to a maximum reduction of half of 
the required number of spaces. 

(e) For AHO Dwelling Units created within an existing 
building, bicycle parking spaces meeting the standards of 
this Zoning Ordinance shall not be required but are 
encouraged to be provided to the extent practical given the 
limitations of the existing structure. Bicycle parking spaces 
shall be provided, as required by this Zoning Ordinance, for 



dwelling units in an AHO Project that are constructed fully 
outside the envelope of the existing structure. 

11.207.6.5 Transportation Demand Management 

An AHO Project not providing off-street parking at a ratio of 0.4 
space per dwelling unit or more shall provide, in writing, to the 
Community Development Department a Transportation Demand 
Management program containing the following measures, at a 
minimum:  

(a) Offering either a free annual membership in a Public
Bicycle Sharing Service, at the highest available tier where
applicable, or a 50% discounted MBTA combined subway
and bus pass for six months or pass of equivalent value, to
up to two individuals in each household upon initial
occupancy of a unit.

(b) Providing transit information in the form of transit maps
and schedules to each household upon initial occupancy of
a unit, or providing information and a real-time transit
service screen in a convenient common area of the building
such as an entryway or lobby.

11.207.7 Building and Site Design Standards for New 
Development 

11.207.7.1 General Provisions 

(a) Except where otherwise stated, the Project Review
requirements set forth in Article 19.000 of this Zoning
Ordinance and any design standards set forth in Section
19.50 or elsewhere in the Zoning Ordinance shall be
superseded by the following standards for an AHO Project.

(b) The following design standards shall apply to new
construction and to additions to existing structures. Except
as otherwise provided, an existing building that is altered or
moved to accommodate an AHO Project shall not be
subject to the following standards, provided that such
alterations do not create a condition that is in greater
nonconformance with such standards than the existing
condition.

11.207.7.2 Site Design and Arrangement 

(a) The area directly between the front lot line and the
principal wall plane of the building nearest to the front lot
line shall consist of any combination of landscaped area,
hardscaped area accessible to pedestrians and bicyclists,



and usable spaces such as uncovered porches, patios, or 
balconies. Parking shall not be located within such area, 
except for driveway access which shall be limited to a total 
of thirty (30) feet of width for any individual driveway for 
each one hundred (100) feet of lot frontage. 

(b) Pedestrian entrances to buildings shall be visible from the
street, except where the building itself is not visible from
the street due to its location. All pedestrian entrances shall
be accessible by way of access routes that are separated
from motor vehicle access drives.

(c) A building footprint exceeding two hundred and fifty (250)
feet in length, measured parallel to the street, shall contain
a massing recess extending back at least fifteen (15) feet in
depth measured from and perpendicular to the front lot line
and at least fifteen (15) feet in width measured parallel to
the front lot line so that the maximum length of unbroken
façade is one hundred fifty (150) feet.

11.207.7.3 Building Façades 

(a) At least twenty percent (20%) of the area of building
façades facing a public street or public open space shall
consist of clear glass windows. For buildings located in a
Business A (BA), Business A-2 (BA-2), Business B (BB)
or Business C (BC) zoning district, this figure shall be
increased to thirty percent (30%) for non-residential
portions of the building, if any.

(b) Building façades shall incorporate architectural elements
that project or recess by at least two feet from the adjacent
section of the façade. Such projecting or recessed elements
shall occur on an average interval of 40 linear horizontal
feet or less for portions of the façade directly facing a
public street, and on an average interval of 80 linear
horizontal feet or less for other portions of the façade. Such
projecting or recessed elements shall not be required on the
lowest Story Above Grade or on the highest Story Above
Grade, and shall not be required on the highest two Stories
Above Grade of a building containing at least six Stories
Above Grade. The intent is to incorporate elements such as
bays, balconies, cornices, shading devices, or similar
architectural elements that promote visual interest and
residential character, and to allow variation at the ground
floor and on upper floors where a different architectural
treatment may be preferable.

11.207.7.4 Ground Stories and Stories Below Grade 



(a) The elevation at floor level of the Ground Story shall be at
the mean Grade of the abutting public sidewalk, or above
such mean Grade by not more than four feet. Active non-
residential uses at the Ground Story shall be accessible
directly from the sidewalk without requiring use of stairs or
a lift. The requirements of this paragraph shall not apply if
it is determined by the City Engineer that a higher Ground
Story elevation is necessary for the purpose of flood
protection.

(b) Where structured parking is provided within the Ground
Story of a building, the portion of the building immediately
behind the front wall plane shall consist of residential units,
common areas, or other populated portions of the building
in order to screen the provided parking over at least
seventy-five percent (75%) of the length of the façade
measured parallel to the street and excluding portions of the
façade used for driveway access. On a corner lot, the
requirements of this Paragraph shall only apply along one
street.

(c) The façade of a Ground Story facing a public street shall
consist of expanses no longer than twenty-five (25) feet in
length, measured parallel to the street, which contain no
transparent windows or pedestrian entryways.

(d) If the Ground Story is designed to accommodate active
non-residential uses, the following additional standards
shall apply:

(i) the height of the Ground Story for that portion of
the building containing active non-residential uses
shall be at least fifteen (15) feet;

(ii) the depth of the space designed for active non-
residential uses shall be at least thirty-five (35) feet
on average measured from the portion of the façade
that is nearest to the front lot line in a direction
perpendicular to the street, and measured to at least
one street in instances where the space abuts two or
more streets; and

(iii) that portion of the Ground Story façade containing
active non-residential uses shall consist of at least
thirty percent (30%) transparent glass windows or,
if the use is a retail or consumer service
establishment, at least thirty percent (30%)
transparent glass windows, across the combined
façade on both streets in the case of a corner lot.



(e) Ground Stories shall be designed to accommodate at least
one space, with a total frontage equaling at least fifty
percent (50%) of the existing retail frontage, for an active
non-residential use, which may include retail or consumer
establishments as well as social service facilities supporting
the mission of the owner of the AHO Project, on sites that
are located in a Business base zoning district, and where
the project site contains or has contained a retail and or
consumer service use at any point within the past two years
prior to application for a building permit for an AHO
Project.

(f) Private living spaces within dwelling units, including
bedrooms, kitchens, and bathrooms, may only be contained
within Stories Above Grade. Stories Below Grade may
only contain portions of dwelling units providing entries,
exits, or mechanical equipment, or common facilities for
residents of the building, such as lobbies, recreation rooms,
laundry, storage, parking, bicycle parking, or mechanical
equipment

11.207.7.5 Mechanical Equipment, Refuse Storage, and 
Loading Areas 

(a) All mechanical equipment, refuse storage, or loading areas
serving the building or its occupants that are (1) carried
above the roof, (2) located at the exterior building wall or
(3) located outside the building, shall meet the
requirements listed below. Mechanical equipment includes,
but is not limited to, ventilation equipment including
exhaust fans and ducts, air conditioning equipment,
elevator bulkheads, heat exchangers, transformers and any
other equipment that, when in operation, potentially creates
a noise detectable off the lot. The equipment and other
facilities: (a) Shall not be located within any required
setback. This Paragraph (a) shall not apply to electrical
equipment whose location is mandated by a recognized
public utility, provided that project plans submitted for
review by the City identify a preferred location for such
equipment.

(b) When on the ground, shall be permanently screened from
view from adjacent public streets that are within 100 feet of
the building, or from the view from abutting property in
separate ownership at the property line. The screening shall
consist of a dense year-round screen equal or greater in
height at the time of installation than the equipment or
facilities to be screened, or a fence of equal or greater



height that is comparable in quality to the materials used on 
the principal facades of the building, with no more than 
twenty-five (25) percent of the face of the fence open with 
adjacent planting.  

(c) When carried above the roof, shall be set back from the
principal wall plane by a dimension equal to at least the
height of the equipment and permanently screened from
view, from the ground, from adjacent public streets and any
abutting residentially used lot or lots in a residential zoning
district. The screening shall be at least seventy-five percent
(75%) opaque and uniformly distributed across the
screening surface, or opaque to the maximum extent
permissible if other applicable laws, codes, or regulations
mandate greater openness.

(d) Shall meet all city, state and federal noise regulations, as
applicable, as certified by a professional acoustical
engineer if the Department of Inspectional Services deems
such certification necessary.

(e) That handle trash and other waste, shall be contained within
the building or screened as required in this Section until
properly disposed of.

11.207.7.6 Environmental Design Standards 

(a) This Section shall not waive the Green Building
Requirements set forth in Section 22.20 of this Zoning
Ordinance that may otherwise apply to an AHO Project.

(b) Where the provisions of the Flood Plain Overlay District
apply to an AHO Project, the performance standards set
forth in Section 20.70 of this Zoning Ordinance shall apply;
however, a special permit shall not be required.

(c) An AHO Project shall be subject to other applicable laws,
regulations, codes, and ordinances pertaining to
environmental standards.

(d) New outdoor light fixtures installed in an AHO Project
shall be fully shielded and directed to prevent light trespass
onto adjacent residential lots.

11.207.8 Advisory Design Consultation Procedure 

Prior to application for a building permit, the developer of an AHO 
Project shall comply with the following procedure, which is 
intended to provide an opportunity for non-binding community and 
staff input into the design of the project. 



(a) The intent of this non-binding review process is to advance
the City’s desired outcomes for the form and character of
AHO Projects. To promote the City’s goal of creating more
affordable housing units, AHO Projects are permitted to
have a greater height, scale, and density than other
developments permitted by the zoning for a given district.
This procedure is intended to promote design outcomes that
are compatible with the existing neighborhood context or
with the City’s future planning objectives for the area.

(b) The City’s “Design Guidelines for Affordable Housing
Overlay,” along with other design objectives and guidelines
established for the part of the city in which the AHO
Project is located, are intended to inform the design of
AHO Projects and to guide the Planning Board’s
consultation and report as set forth below. It is intended
that designers of AHO Projects, City staff, the Planning
Board, and the general public will be open to creative
variations from any detailed provisions set forth in such
objectives and guidelines as long as the core values
expressed are being served.

(c) At least two community meetings shall be scheduled at a
time and location that is convenient to residents in
proximity to the project site. The Community Development
Department (CDD) shall be notified of the time and
location of such meetings, and shall give notification to
abutters, owners of land directly opposite on any public or
private street or way, and abutters to the abutters within
three hundred feet of the property line of the lot on which
the AHO Project is proposed and to any individual or
organization who each year files with CDD a written
request for such notification, or to any other individual or
organization CDD may wish to notify.

(i) The purpose of the first community meeting shall be
for the developer to share the site and street context
analysis with neighborhood residents and other
interested parties prior to building design, and
receive feedback from community members.

(ii) The purpose of the subsequent community
meeting(s) shall be to present preliminary project
designs, answer questions from neighboring
residents and other interested members of the
public, and receive feedback on the design. The
date(s), time(s), location(s), attendance, materials
presented, and comments received at such



meeting(s) shall be documented and provided to 
CDD. 

(d) Following one or more such community meeting(s), the
developer shall prepare the following materials for review
by the Planning Board. CDD shall review to certify that the
submitted written and graphic materials provide the
required information in sufficient detail. All drawings shall
be drawn to scale, shall include a graphic scale and north
arrow for orientation, and shall provide labeled distances
and dimensions for significant building and site features.

(i) A context map indicating the location of the project
and surrounding land uses, including transportation
facilities.

(ii) A context analysis, discussed with CDD staff,
including existing front yard setbacks, architectural
character, and unique features that inform and
influence the design of the AHO Project.

(iii) An existing conditions site plan depicting the
boundaries of the lot, the locations of buildings,
open space features, parking areas, trees, and other
major site features on the lot and abutting lots, and
the conditions of abutting streets.

(iv) A proposed conditions site plan depicting the same
information above as modified to depict the
proposed conditions, including new buildings
(identifying building entrances and uses on the
ground floor and possible building roof deck) and
major anticipated changes in site features.

(v) A design statement on how the proposed project
attempts to reinforce existing street/context qualities
and mitigates the planned project’s greater massing,
height, density, &c.

(vi) Floor plans of all proposed new buildings and
existing buildings to remain on the lot.

(vii) Elevations and cross-section drawings of all
proposed new buildings and existing buildings to
remain on the lot, depicting the distances to lot lines
and the heights of surrounding buildings, and
labeling the proposed materials on each façade
elevation.



(viii) A landscape plan depicting and labeling all
hardscape, permeable, and vegetated areas proposed
for the site along with other structures or
appurtenances on the site.

(ix) Plans of parking and bicycle parking facilities, as
required by Section 6.50 of this Zoning Ordinance.

(x) Materials palettes cataloguing and depicting with
photographs the proposed façade and landscape
materials.

(xi) Existing conditions photographs from various
vantage points on the public sidewalk, including
photos of the site and of the surrounding urban
context.

(xii) Proposed conditions perspective renderings from a
variety of vantage points on the public sidewalk,
including locations adjacent to the site as well as
longer views if proposed buildings will be visible
from a distance.

(xiii) A dimensional form, in a format provided by CDD,
along with any supplemental materials,
summarizing the general characteristics of the
project and demonstrating compliance with
applicable zoning requirements.

(xiv) A brief project narrative describing the project and
the design approach, and indicating how the project
has been designed in relation to the citywide urban
design objectives set forth in Section 19.30 of the
Zoning Ordinance, any design guidelines that have
been established for the area, and the “Design
Guidelines for Affordable Housing Overlay.”

(xv) Viewshed analysis and shadow studies that show
the impact on neighboring properties with existing
Solar Energy Systems.

(xvi) An initial development budget that shows
anticipated funding sources and uses including
developer fee and overhead.

(e) Within 65 days of receipt of a complete set of materials by
CDD, the Planning Board shall schedule a design
consultation as a general business matter at a public
meeting and shall give notification to abutters, owners of
land directly opposite on any public or private street or



way, and abutters to the abutters within three hundred feet 
of the property line of the lot on which the AHO Project is 
proposed and to any individual or organization who each 
year files with CDD a written request for such notification, 
or to any other individual or organization CDD may wish to 
notify. The materials shall be made available to the public 
in advance, and the Planning Board may receive written 
comments prior to the meeting from City staff, abutters, 
and members of the public. 

(f) At the scheduled design consultation, the Planning Board
shall hear a presentation of the proposal from the developer
and oral comments from the public. The Board may ask
questions or seek additional information from the developer
or from City staff.

(g) The Planning Board shall evaluate the proposal for general
compliance with the requirements of this Section, for
consistency with City development guidelines prepared for
the proposal area and the “Design Guidelines for
Affordable Housing Overlay,” for appropriateness in terms
of other planned or programmed public or private
development activities in the vicinity, and for consistency
with the Citywide Urban Design Objectives set forth in
Section 19.30. The Board may also suggest specific project
adjustments and alterations to further the purposes of this
Ordinance. The Board shall communicate its findings in a
written report provided to the developer and to CDD within
20 days of the design consultation.

(h) The developer may then make revisions to the design, in
consultation with CDD staff, and shall submit a revised set
of documents along with a narrative summary of the
Planning Board’s comments and changes made in response
to those comments.

(i) The Planning Board shall review and discuss the revised
documents at a second design consultation meeting, which
shall proceed in accordance with Paragraphs (c) and (d)
above. Following the second design consultation, the
Planning Board may submit a revised report and either the
revised report or if there are no revisions the initial report
shall become the final report (the “Final Report”). Any
additional design consultations to review further revisions
may occur only at the discretion and on the request of the
developer or the Cambridge Affordable Housing Trust.



(j) The Final Report from the Planning Board shall be
provided to the Superintendent of Buildings to certify
compliance with the procedures set forth herein.

11.207.9 Implementation of Affordable Housing Overlay 

(a) The City Manager shall have the authority to promulgate
regulations for the implementation of the provisions of this
Section 11.207. There shall be a sixty-day review period,
including a public meeting, to receive public comments on
draft regulations before final promulgation.

(b) The Community Development Department may develop
standards, design guidelines, and procedures appropriate to
and consistent with the provisions of this Sections 11.207
and the above regulations.

11.207.10 Enforcement of Affordable Housing Overlay 

The Community Development Department shall certify in writing 
to the Superintendent of Buildings that all applicable provisions of 
this Section have been met before issuance of any building permit 
for any AHO Project, and shall further certify in writing to the 
Superintendent of Buildings that all documents have been filed and 
all actions taken necessary to fulfill the requirements of this 
Section before the issuance of any certificate of occupancy for any 
such project. 

11.207.11 Review of Affordable Housing Overlay 

(a) Annual Report. CDD shall provide an annual status report
to the City Council, beginning eighteen (18) months after
ordination and continuing every year thereafter. The report
shall contain the following information:

(i) List of sites considered for affordable housing
development under the Affordable Housing
Overlay, to the extent known by CDD, including
site location, actions taken to initiate an AHO
Project, and site status;

(ii) Description of each AHO Project underway or
completed, including site location, number of units,
unit types (number of bedrooms), tenure, and
project status; and

(iii) Number of residents served by AHO Projects.

(b) Five-Year Progress Review. Five (5) years after ordination,
CDD shall provide to the City Council, Planning Board and



the Affordable Housing Trust, for its review, a report that 
assesses the effectiveness of the Affordable Housing 
Overlay in increasing the number of affordable housing 
units in the city, distributing affordable housing across City 
neighborhoods, and serving the housing needs of residents. 
The report shall also assess the effectiveness of the 
Advisory Design Consultation Procedure in gathering 
meaningful input from community members and the 
Planning Board and shaping AHO Projects to be consistent 
with the stated Design Objectives. The report shall evaluate 
the success of the Affordable Housing Overlay in balancing 
the goal of increasing affordable housing with other City 
planning considerations such as urban form, neighborhood 
character, environment, and mobility. The report shall 
discuss citywide outcomes as well as site-specific 
outcomes. 

Passed to a second reading as amended at the City Council 
meeting held on September 14, 2020 and on or after 
October 5, 2020 the question comes on passage to be 
ordained. 

Attest:- Anthony I. Wilson 
     City Clerk 



Assembly Bill No. 1763 

CHAPTER 666 

An act to amend Section 65915 of the Government Code, relating to 
housing. 

[Approved by Governor October 9, 2019. Filed with Secretary 
of State October 9, 2019.] 

legislative counsel’s digest

AB 1763, Chiu. Planning and zoning: density bonuses: affordable housing. 
Existing law, known as the Density Bonus Law, requires a city or county 

to provide a developer that proposes a housing development within the 
jurisdictional boundaries of that city or county with a density bonus and 
other incentives or concessions for the production of lower income housing 
units, or for the donation of land within the development, if the developer 
agrees to construct a specified percentage of units for very low income, 
low-income, or moderate-income households or qualifying residents and 
meets other requirements. Existing law provides for the calculation of the 
amount of density bonus for each type of housing development that qualifies 
under these provisions. 

This bill would additionally require a density bonus to be provided to a 
developer who agrees to construct a housing development in which 100% 
of the total units, exclusive of managers’ units, are for lower income 
households, as defined. However, the bill would provide that a housing 
development that qualifies for a density bonus under its provisions may 
include up to 20% of the total units for moderate-income households, as 
defined. The bill would also require that a housing development that meets 
these criteria receive 4 incentives or concessions under the Density Bonus 
Law and, if the development is located within ½ of a major transit stop, a 
height increase of up to 3 additional stories or 33 feet. The bill would 
generally require that the housing development receive a density bonus of 
80%, but would exempt the housing development from any maximum 
controls on density if it is located within ½ mile of a major transit stop. The 
bill would prohibit a housing development that receives a waiver from any 
maximum controls on density under these provisions from receiving a waiver 
or reduction of development standards pursuant to existing law, other than 
as expressly provided in the bill. The bill would also make various 
nonsubstantive changes to the Density Bonus Law. 

Existing law requires that an applicant for a density bonus agree to, and 
that the city and county ensure, the continued affordability of all very low 
and low-income rental units that qualified the applicant for a density bonus 
for at least 55 years, as provided. Existing law requires that the rent for 

93 

Attachment 2



lower income density bonus units be set at an affordable rent, as defined in 
specified law. 

This bill, for units, including both base density and density bonus units, 
in a housing development that qualifies for a density bonus under its 
provisions as described above, would instead require that the rent for at 
least 20% of the units in that development be set at an affordable rent, 
defined as described above, and that the rent for the remaining units be set 
at an amount consistent with the maximum rent levels for a housing 
development that receives an allocation of state or federal low-income 
housing tax credits from the California Tax Credit Allocation Committee. 

Existing law, upon the request of the developer, prohibits a city, county, 
or city and county from requiring a vehicular parking ratio for a development 
meeting the eligibility requirements under the Density Bonus Law that 
exceeds specified ratios. For a development that consists solely of rental 
units, exclusive of a manager’s unit or units, with an affordable housing 
cost to lower income families, as provided in specified law, and that is a 
special needs housing development, as defined, existing law limits that 
vehicular parking ratio to 0.3 spaces per unit. 

This bill would instead, upon the request of the developer, prohibit a city, 
county, or city and county from imposing any minimum vehicular parking 
requirement for a development that consists solely of rental units, exclusive 
of a manager’s unit or units, with an affordable housing cost to lower income 
families and is either a special needs housing development or a supportive 
housing development, as those terms are defined. 

By adding to the duties of local planning officials with respect to the 
award of density bonuses, this bill would impose a state-mandated local 
program. 

The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local agencies 
and school districts for certain costs mandated by the state. Statutory 
provisions establish procedures for making that reimbursement. 

This bill would provide that no reimbursement is required by this act for 
a specified reason. 

The people of the State of California do enact as follows: 

SECTION 1. Section 65915 of the Government Code, as amended by 
Chapter 937 of the Statutes of 2018, is amended to read: 

65915. (a)  (1)  When an applicant seeks a density bonus for a housing 
development within, or for the donation of land for housing within, the 
jurisdiction of a city, county, or city and county, that local government shall 
comply with this section. A city, county, or city and county shall adopt an 
ordinance that specifies how compliance with this section will be 
implemented. Failure to adopt an ordinance shall not relieve a city, county, 
or city and county from complying with this section. 

(2) A local government shall not condition the submission, review, or
approval of an application pursuant to this chapter on the preparation of an 

93 

— 2 — Ch. 666 



additional report or study that is not otherwise required by state law, 
including this section. This subdivision does not prohibit a local government 
from requiring an applicant to provide reasonable documentation to establish 
eligibility for a requested density bonus, incentives or concessions, as 
described in subdivision (d), waivers or reductions of development standards, 
as described in subdivision (e), and parking ratios, as described in subdivision 
(p). 

(3) In order to provide for the expeditious processing of a density bonus
application, the local government shall do all of the following: 

(A) Adopt procedures and timelines for processing a density bonus
application. 

(B) Provide a list of all documents and information required to be
submitted with the density bonus application in order for the density bonus 
application to be deemed complete. This list shall be consistent with this 
chapter. 

(C) Notify the applicant for a density bonus whether the application is
complete in a manner consistent with the timelines specified in Section 
65943. 

(D) (i)  If the local government notifies the applicant that the application
is deemed complete pursuant to subparagraph (C), provide the applicant 
with a determination as to the following matters: 

(I) The amount of density bonus, calculated pursuant to subdivision (f),
for which the applicant is eligible. 

(II) If the applicant requests a parking ratio pursuant to subdivision (p),
the parking ratio for which the applicant is eligible. 

(III) If the applicant requests incentives or concessions pursuant to
subdivision (d) or waivers or reductions of development standards pursuant 
to subdivision (e), whether the applicant has provided adequate information 
for the local government to make a determination as to those incentives, 
concessions, or waivers or reductions of development standards. 

(ii) Any determination required by this subparagraph shall be based on
the development project at the time the application is deemed complete. 
The local government shall adjust the amount of density bonus and parking 
ratios awarded pursuant to this section based on any changes to the project 
during the course of development. 

(b) (1)  A city, county, or city and county shall grant one density bonus,
the amount of which shall be as specified in subdivision (f), and, if requested 
by the applicant and consistent with the applicable requirements of this 
section, incentives or concessions, as described in subdivision (d), waivers 
or reductions of development standards, as described in subdivision (e), and 
parking ratios, as described in subdivision (p), when an applicant for a 
housing development seeks and agrees to construct a housing development, 
excluding any units permitted by the density bonus awarded pursuant to 
this section, that will contain at least any one of the following: 

(A) Ten percent of the total units of a housing development for lower
income households, as defined in Section 50079.5 of the Health and Safety 
Code. 

93 

Ch. 666 — 3 — 



(B) Five percent of the total units of a housing development for very low
income households, as defined in Section 50105 of the Health and Safety 
Code. 

(C) A senior citizen housing development, as defined in Sections 51.3
and 51.12 of the Civil Code, or a mobilehome park that limits residency 
based on age requirements for housing for older persons pursuant to Section 
798.76 or 799.5 of the Civil Code. 

(D) Ten percent of the total dwelling units in a common interest
development, as defined in Section 4100 of the Civil Code, for persons and 
families of moderate income, as defined in Section 50093 of the Health and 
Safety Code, provided that all units in the development are offered to the 
public for purchase. 

(E) Ten percent of the total units of a housing development for transitional 
foster youth, as defined in Section 66025.9 of the Education Code, disabled 
veterans, as defined in Section 18541, or homeless persons, as defined in 
the federal McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 
11301 et seq.). The units described in this subparagraph shall be subject to 
a recorded affordability restriction of 55 years and shall be provided at the 
same affordability level as very low income units. 

(F) (i)  Twenty percent of the total units for lower income students in a
student housing development that meets the following requirements: 

(I) All units in the student housing development will be used exclusively
for undergraduate, graduate, or professional students enrolled full time at 
an institution of higher education accredited by the Western Association of 
Schools and Colleges or the Accrediting Commission for Community and 
Junior Colleges. In order to be eligible under this subclause, the developer 
shall, as a condition of receiving a certificate of occupancy, provide evidence 
to the city, county, or city and county that the developer has entered into an 
operating agreement or master lease with one or more institutions of higher 
education for the institution or institutions to occupy all units of the student 
housing development with students from that institution or institutions. An 
operating agreement or master lease entered into pursuant to this subclause 
is not violated or breached if, in any subsequent year, there are not sufficient 
students enrolled in an institution of higher education to fill all units in the 
student housing development. 

(II) The applicable 20-percent units will be used for lower income
students. For purposes of this clause, “lower income students” means 
students who have a household income and asset level that does not exceed 
the level for Cal Grant A or Cal Grant B award recipients as set forth in 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (k) of Section 69432.7 of the Education Code. 
The eligibility of a student under this clause shall be verified by an affidavit, 
award letter, or letter of eligibility provided by the institution of higher 
education that the student is enrolled in, as described in subclause (I), or by 
the California Student Aid Commission that the student receives or is eligible 
for financial aid, including an institutional grant or fee waiver, from the 
college or university, the California Student Aid Commission, or the federal 
government shall be sufficient to satisfy this subclause. 

93 

— 4 — Ch. 666 



(III) The rent provided in the applicable units of the development for
lower income students shall be calculated at 30 percent of 65 percent of the 
area median income for a single-room occupancy unit type. 

(IV) The development will provide priority for the applicable affordable
units for lower income students experiencing homelessness. A homeless 
service provider, as defined in paragraph (3) of subdivision (d) of Section 
103577 of the Health and Safety Code, or institution of higher education 
that has knowledge of a person’s homeless status may verify a person’s 
status as homeless for purposes of this subclause. 

(ii) For purposes of calculating a density bonus granted pursuant to this
subparagraph, the term “unit” as used in this section means one rental bed 
and its pro rata share of associated common area facilities. The units 
described in this subparagraph shall be subject to a recorded affordability 
restriction of 55 years. 

(G) One hundred percent of the total units, exclusive of a manager’s unit
or units, are for lower income households, as defined by Section 50079.5 
of the Health and Safety Code, except that up to 20 percent of the total units 
in the development may be for moderate-income households, as defined in 
Section 50053 of the Health and Safety Code. 

(2) For purposes of calculating the amount of the density bonus pursuant
to subdivision (f), an applicant who requests a density bonus pursuant to 
this subdivision shall elect whether the bonus shall be awarded on the basis 
of subparagraph (A), (B), (C), (D), (E), (F), or (G) of paragraph (1). 

(3) For the purposes of this section, “total units,” “total dwelling units,”
or “total rental beds” does not include units added by a density bonus 
awarded pursuant to this section or any local law granting a greater density 
bonus. 

(c) (1)  (A)  An applicant shall agree to, and the city, county, or city and
county shall ensure, the continued affordability of all very low and 
low-income rental units that qualified the applicant for the award of the 
density bonus for 55 years or a longer period of time if required by the 
construction or mortgage financing assistance program, mortgage insurance 
program, or rental subsidy program. 

(B) (i)  Except as otherwise provided in clause (ii), rents for the lower
income density bonus units shall be set at an affordable rent, as defined in 
Section 50053 of the Health and Safety Code. 

(ii) For housing developments meeting the criteria of subparagraph (G)
of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b), rents for all units in the development, 
including both base density and density bonus units, shall be as follows: 

(I) The rent for at least 20 percent of the units in the development shall
be set at an affordable rent, as defined in Section 50053 of the Health and 
Safety Code. 

(II) The rent for the remaining units in the development shall be set at
an amount consistent with the maximum rent levels for a housing 
development that receives an allocation of state or federal low-income 
housing tax credits from the California Tax Credit Allocation Committee. 

93 

Ch. 666 — 5 — 



(2) An applicant shall agree to, and the city, county, or city and county
shall ensure that, the initial occupant of all for-sale units that qualified the 
applicant for the award of the density bonus are persons and families of 
very low, low, or moderate income, as required, and that the units are offered 
at an affordable housing cost, as that cost is defined in Section 50052.5 of 
the Health and Safety Code. The local government shall enforce an equity 
sharing agreement, unless it is in conflict with the requirements of another 
public funding source or law. The following apply to the equity sharing 
agreement: 

(A) Upon resale, the seller of the unit shall retain the value of any
improvements, the downpayment, and the seller’s proportionate share of 
appreciation. The local government shall recapture any initial subsidy, as 
defined in subparagraph (B), and its proportionate share of appreciation, as 
defined in subparagraph (C), which amount shall be used within five years 
for any of the purposes described in subdivision (e) of Section 33334.2 of 
the Health and Safety Code that promote home ownership. 

(B) For purposes of this subdivision, the local government’s initial
subsidy shall be equal to the fair market value of the home at the time of 
initial sale minus the initial sale price to the moderate-income household, 
plus the amount of any downpayment assistance or mortgage assistance. If 
upon resale the market value is lower than the initial market value, then the 
value at the time of the resale shall be used as the initial market value. 

(C) For purposes of this subdivision, the local government’s proportionate 
share of appreciation shall be equal to the ratio of the local government’s 
initial subsidy to the fair market value of the home at the time of initial sale. 

(3) (A)  An applicant shall be ineligible for a density bonus or any other
incentives or concessions under this section if the housing development is 
proposed on any property that includes a parcel or parcels on which rental 
dwelling units are or, if the dwelling units have been vacated or demolished 
in the five-year period preceding the application, have been subject to a 
recorded covenant, ordinance, or law that restricts rents to levels affordable 
to persons and families of lower or very low income; subject to any other 
form of rent or price control through a public entity’s valid exercise of its 
police power; or occupied by lower or very low income households, unless 
the proposed housing development replaces those units, and either of the 
following applies: 

(i) The proposed housing development, inclusive of the units replaced
pursuant to this paragraph, contains affordable units at the percentages set 
forth in subdivision (b). 

(ii) Each unit in the development, exclusive of a manager’s unit or units,
is affordable to, and occupied by, either a lower or very low income 
household. 

(B) For the purposes of this paragraph, “replace” shall mean either of
the following: 

(i) If any dwelling units described in subparagraph (A) are occupied on
the date of application, the proposed housing development shall provide at 
least the same number of units of equivalent size to be made available at 

93 

— 6 — Ch. 666 



affordable rent or affordable housing cost to, and occupied by, persons and 
families in the same or lower income category as those households in 
occupancy. If the income category of the household in occupancy is not 
known, it shall be rebuttably presumed that lower income renter households 
occupied these units in the same proportion of lower income renter 
households to all renter households within the jurisdiction, as determined 
by the most recently available data from the United States Department of 
Housing and Urban Development’s Comprehensive Housing Affordability 
Strategy database. For unoccupied dwelling units described in subparagraph 
(A) in a development with occupied units, the proposed housing development 
shall provide units of equivalent size to be made available at affordable rent
or affordable housing cost to, and occupied by, persons and families in the
same or lower income category as the last household in occupancy. If the
income category of the last household in occupancy is not known, it shall
be rebuttably presumed that lower income renter households occupied these 
units in the same proportion of lower income renter households to all renter
households within the jurisdiction, as determined by the most recently
available data from the United States Department of Housing and Urban
Development’s Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy database.
All replacement calculations resulting in fractional units shall be rounded
up to the next whole number. If the replacement units will be rental dwelling
units, these units shall be subject to a recorded affordability restriction for
at least 55 years. If the proposed development is for-sale units, the units
replaced shall be subject to paragraph (2).

(ii) If all dwelling units described in subparagraph (A) have been vacated
or demolished within the five-year period preceding the application, the 
proposed housing development shall provide at least the same number of 
units of equivalent size as existed at the highpoint of those units in the 
five-year period preceding the application to be made available at affordable 
rent or affordable housing cost to, and occupied by, persons and families 
in the same or lower income category as those persons and families in 
occupancy at that time, if known. If the incomes of the persons and families 
in occupancy at the highpoint is not known, it shall be rebuttably presumed 
that low-income and very low income renter households occupied these 
units in the same proportion of low-income and very low income renter 
households to all renter households within the jurisdiction, as determined 
by the most recently available data from the United States Department of 
Housing and Urban Development’s Comprehensive Housing Affordability 
Strategy database. All replacement calculations resulting in fractional units 
shall be rounded up to the next whole number. If the replacement units will 
be rental dwelling units, these units shall be subject to a recorded 
affordability restriction for at least 55 years. If the proposed development 
is for-sale units, the units replaced shall be subject to paragraph (2). 

(C) Notwithstanding subparagraph (B), for any dwelling unit described
in subparagraph (A) that is or was, within the five-year period preceding 
the application, subject to a form of rent or price control through a local 
government’s valid exercise of its police power and that is or was occupied 

93 

Ch. 666 — 7 — 



by persons or families above lower income, the city, county, or city and 
county may do either of the following: 

(i) Require that the replacement units be made available at affordable
rent or affordable housing cost to, and occupied by, low-income persons or 
families. If the replacement units will be rental dwelling units, these units 
shall be subject to a recorded affordability restriction for at least 55 years. 
If the proposed development is for-sale units, the units replaced shall be 
subject to paragraph (2). 

(ii) Require that the units be replaced in compliance with the jurisdiction’s 
rent or price control ordinance, provided that each unit described in 
subparagraph (A) is replaced. Unless otherwise required by the jurisdiction’s 
rent or price control ordinance, these units shall not be subject to a recorded 
affordability restriction. 

(D) For purposes of this paragraph, “equivalent size” means that the
replacement units contain at least the same total number of bedrooms as the 
units being replaced. 

(E) Subparagraph (A) does not apply to an applicant seeking a density
bonus for a proposed housing development if the applicant’s application 
was submitted to, or processed by, a city, county, or city and county before 
January 1, 2015. 

(d) (1)  An applicant for a density bonus pursuant to subdivision (b) may
submit to a city, county, or city and county a proposal for the specific 
incentives or concessions that the applicant requests pursuant to this section, 
and may request a meeting with the city, county, or city and county. The 
city, county, or city and county shall grant the concession or incentive 
requested by the applicant unless the city, county, or city and county makes 
a written finding, based upon substantial evidence, of any of the following: 

(A) The concession or incentive does not result in identifiable and actual
cost reductions, consistent with subdivision (k), to provide for affordable 
housing costs, as defined in Section 50052.5 of the Health and Safety Code, 
or for rents for the targeted units to be set as specified in subdivision (c). 

(B) The concession or incentive would have a specific, adverse impact,
as defined in paragraph (2) of subdivision (d) of Section 65589.5, upon 
public health and safety or the physical environment or on any real property 
that is listed in the California Register of Historical Resources and for which 
there is no feasible method to satisfactorily mitigate or avoid the specific, 
adverse impact without rendering the development unaffordable to 
low-income and moderate-income households. 

(C) The concession or incentive would be contrary to state or federal
law. 

(2) The applicant shall receive the following number of incentives or
concessions: 

(A) One incentive or concession for projects that include at least 10
percent of the total units for lower income households, at least 5 percent for 
very low income households, or at least 10 percent for persons and families 
of moderate income in a common interest development. 

93 

— 8 — Ch. 666 



(B) Two incentives or concessions for projects that include at least 20
percent of the total units for lower income households, at least 10 percent 
for very low income households, or at least 20 percent for persons and 
families of moderate income in a common interest development. 

(C) Three incentives or concessions for projects that include at least 30
percent of the total units for lower income households, at least 15 percent 
for very low income households, or at least 30 percent for persons and 
families of moderate income in a common interest development. 

(D) Four incentives or concessions for projects meeting the criteria of
subparagraph (G) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b). If the project is located 
within one-half mile of a major transit stop, as defined in subdivision (b) 
of Section 21155 of the Public Resources Code, the applicant shall also 
receive a height increase of up to three additional stories, or 33 feet. 

(3) The applicant may initiate judicial proceedings if the city, county, or
city and county refuses to grant a requested density bonus, incentive, or 
concession. If a court finds that the refusal to grant a requested density 
bonus, incentive, or concession is in violation of this section, the court shall 
award the plaintiff reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of suit. Nothing in 
this subdivision shall be interpreted to require a local government to grant 
an incentive or concession that has a specific, adverse impact, as defined 
in paragraph (2) of subdivision (d) of Section 65589.5, upon health, safety, 
or the physical environment, and for which there is no feasible method to 
satisfactorily mitigate or avoid the specific adverse impact. Nothing in this 
subdivision shall be interpreted to require a local government to grant an 
incentive or concession that would have an adverse impact on any real 
property that is listed in the California Register of Historical Resources. 
The city, county, or city and county shall establish procedures for carrying 
out this section that shall include legislative body approval of the means of 
compliance with this section. 

(4) The city, county, or city and county shall bear the burden of proof
for the denial of a requested concession or incentive. 

(e) (1)  In no case may a city, county, or city and county apply any
development standard that will have the effect of physically precluding the 
construction of a development meeting the criteria of subdivision (b) at the 
densities or with the concessions or incentives permitted by this section. 
Subject to paragraph (3), an applicant may submit to a city, county, or city 
and county a proposal for the waiver or reduction of development standards 
that will have the effect of physically precluding the construction of a 
development meeting the criteria of subdivision (b) at the densities or with 
the concessions or incentives permitted under this section, and may request 
a meeting with the city, county, or city and county. If a court finds that the 
refusal to grant a waiver or reduction of development standards is in violation 
of this section, the court shall award the plaintiff reasonable attorney’s fees 
and costs of suit. Nothing in this subdivision shall be interpreted to require 
a local government to waive or reduce development standards if the waiver 
or reduction would have a specific, adverse impact, as defined in paragraph 
(2) of subdivision (d) of Section 65589.5, upon health, safety, or the physical

93 

Ch. 666 — 9 — 



environment, and for which there is no feasible method to satisfactorily 
mitigate or avoid the specific adverse impact. Nothing in this subdivision 
shall be interpreted to require a local government to waive or reduce 
development standards that would have an adverse impact on any real 
property that is listed in the California Register of Historical Resources, or 
to grant any waiver or reduction that would be contrary to state or federal 
law. 

(2) A proposal for the waiver or reduction of development standards
pursuant to this subdivision shall neither reduce nor increase the number of 
incentives or concessions to which the applicant is entitled pursuant to 
subdivision (d). 

(3) A housing development that receives a waiver from any maximum
controls on density pursuant to clause (ii) of subparagraph (D) of paragraph 
(3) of subdivision (f) shall not be eligible for, and shall not receive, a waiver
or reduction of development standards pursuant to this subdivision, other
than as expressly provided in subparagraph (D) of paragraph (2) of
subdivision (d) and clause (ii) of subparagraph (D) of paragraph (3) of
subdivision (f).

(f) For the purposes of this chapter, “density bonus” means a density
increase over the otherwise maximum allowable gross residential density 
as of the date of application by the applicant to the city, county, or city and 
county, or, if elected by the applicant, a lesser percentage of density increase, 
including, but not limited to, no increase in density. The amount of density 
increase to which the applicant is entitled shall vary according to the amount 
by which the percentage of affordable housing units exceeds the percentage 
established in subdivision (b). 

(1) For housing developments meeting the criteria of subparagraph (A)
of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b), the density bonus shall be calculated as 
follows: 

Percentage Density 
Bonus 

Percentage Low-Income Units 

20  10 
21.5 11 
23  12 
24.5 13 
26  14 
27.5 15 
30.5 17 
32  18 
33.5 19 
35  20 

(2) For housing developments meeting the criteria of subparagraph (B)
of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b), the density bonus shall be calculated as 
follows: 

93 

— 10 — Ch. 666 



Percentage Density Bonus Percentage Very Low Income Units 
20  5 
22.5 6 
25  7 
27.5 8 
30  9 
32.5 10 
35  11 

(3) (A)  For housing developments meeting the criteria of subparagraph
(C) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b), the density bonus shall be 20 percent
of the number of senior housing units.

(B) For housing developments meeting the criteria of subparagraph (E)
of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b), the density bonus shall be 20 percent 
of the number of the type of units giving rise to a density bonus under that 
subparagraph. 

(C) For housing developments meeting the criteria of subparagraph (F)
of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b), the density bonus shall be 35 percent 
of the student housing units. 

(D) For housing developments meeting the criteria of subparagraph (G)
of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b), the following shall apply: 

(i) Except as otherwise provided in clause (ii), the density bonus shall
be 80 percent of the number of units for lower income households. 

(ii) If the housing development is located within one-half mile of a major 
transit stop, as defined in subdivision (b) of Section 21155 of the Public 
Resources Code, the city, county, or city and county shall not impose any 
maximum controls on density. 

(4) For housing developments meeting the criteria of subparagraph (D)
of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b), the density bonus shall be calculated as 
follows: 

Percentage Density Bonus Percentage Moderate-Income Units 
5 10 
6 11 
7 12 
8 13 
9 14 
10 15 
11 16 
12 17 
13 18 
14 19 
15 20 
16 21 
17 22 
18 23 
19 24 

93 

Ch. 666 — 11 — 



20 25 
21 26 
22 27 
23 28 
24 29 
25 30 
26 31 
27 32 
28 33 
29 34 
30 35 
31 36 
32 37 
33 38 
34 39 
35 40 

(5) All density calculations resulting in fractional units shall be rounded
up to the next whole number. The granting of a density bonus shall not 
require, or be interpreted, in and of itself, to require a general plan 
amendment, local coastal plan amendment, zoning change, or other 
discretionary approval. 

(g) (1)  When an applicant for a tentative subdivision map, parcel map,
or other residential development approval donates land to a city, county, or 
city and county in accordance with this subdivision, the applicant shall be 
entitled to a 15-percent increase above the otherwise maximum allowable 
residential density for the entire development, as follows: 

Percentage Density Bonus Percentage Very Low Income 
15 10 
16 11 
17 12 
18 13 
19 14 
20 15 
21 16 
22 17 
23 18 
24 19 
25 20 
26 21 
27 22 
28 23 
29 24 
30 25 
31 26 
32 27 

93 

— 12 — Ch. 666 



33 28 
34 29 
35 30 

(2) This increase shall be in addition to any increase in density mandated
by subdivision (b), up to a maximum combined mandated density increase 
of 35 percent if an applicant seeks an increase pursuant to both this 
subdivision and subdivision (b). All density calculations resulting in 
fractional units shall be rounded up to the next whole number. Nothing in 
this subdivision shall be construed to enlarge or diminish the authority of 
a city, county, or city and county to require a developer to donate land as a 
condition of development. An applicant shall be eligible for the increased 
density bonus described in this subdivision if all of the following conditions 
are met: 

(A) The applicant donates and transfers the land no later than the date
of approval of the final subdivision map, parcel map, or residential 
development application. 

(B) The developable acreage and zoning classification of the land being
transferred are sufficient to permit construction of units affordable to very 
low income households in an amount not less than 10 percent of the number 
of residential units of the proposed development. 

(C) The transferred land is at least one acre in size or of sufficient size
to permit development of at least 40 units, has the appropriate general plan 
designation, is appropriately zoned with appropriate development standards 
for development at the density described in paragraph (3) of subdivision (c) 
of Section 65583.2, and is or will be served by adequate public facilities 
and infrastructure. 

(D) The transferred land shall have all of the permits and approvals, other
than building permits, necessary for the development of the very low income 
housing units on the transferred land, not later than the date of approval of 
the final subdivision map, parcel map, or residential development application, 
except that the local government may subject the proposed development to 
subsequent design review to the extent authorized by subdivision (i) of 
Section 65583.2 if the design is not reviewed by the local government before 
the time of transfer. 

(E) The transferred land and the affordable units shall be subject to a
deed restriction ensuring continued affordability of the units consistent with 
paragraphs (1) and (2) of subdivision (c), which shall be recorded on the 
property at the time of the transfer. 

(F) The land is transferred to the local agency or to a housing developer
approved by the local agency. The local agency may require the applicant 
to identify and transfer the land to the developer. 

(G) The transferred land shall be within the boundary of the proposed
development or, if the local agency agrees, within one-quarter mile of the 
boundary of the proposed development. 

93 

Ch. 666 — 13 — 



(H) A proposed source of funding for the very low income units shall be
identified not later than the date of approval of the final subdivision map, 
parcel map, or residential development application. 

(h) (1)  When an applicant proposes to construct a housing development
that conforms to the requirements of subdivision (b) and includes a childcare 
facility that will be located on the premises of, as part of, or adjacent to, the 
project, the city, county, or city and county shall grant either of the following: 

(A) An additional density bonus that is an amount of square feet of
residential space that is equal to or greater than the amount of square feet 
in the childcare facility. 

(B) An additional concession or incentive that contributes significantly
to the economic feasibility of the construction of the childcare facility. 

(2) The city, county, or city and county shall require, as a condition of
approving the housing development, that the following occur: 

(A) The childcare facility shall remain in operation for a period of time
that is as long as or longer than the period of time during which the density 
bonus units are required to remain affordable pursuant to subdivision (c). 

(B) Of the children who attend the childcare facility, the children of very
low income households, lower income households, or families of moderate 
income shall equal a percentage that is equal to or greater than the percentage 
of dwelling units that are required for very low income households, lower 
income households, or families of moderate income pursuant to subdivision 
(b). 

(3) Notwithstanding any requirement of this subdivision, a city, county,
or city and county shall not be required to provide a density bonus or 
concession for a childcare facility if it finds, based upon substantial evidence, 
that the community has adequate childcare facilities. 

(4) “Childcare facility,” as used in this section, means a child daycare
facility other than a family daycare home, including, but not limited to, 
infant centers, preschools, extended daycare facilities, and schoolage 
childcare centers. 

(i) “Housing development,” as used in this section, means a development 
project for five or more residential units, including mixed-use developments. 
For the purposes of this section, “housing development” also includes a 
subdivision or common interest development, as defined in Section 4100 
of the Civil Code, approved by a city, county, or city and county and consists 
of residential units or unimproved residential lots and either a project to 
substantially rehabilitate and convert an existing commercial building to 
residential use or the substantial rehabilitation of an existing multifamily 
dwelling, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 65863.4, where the result 
of the rehabilitation would be a net increase in available residential units. 
For the purpose of calculating a density bonus, the residential units shall be 
on contiguous sites that are the subject of one development application, but 
do not have to be based upon individual subdivision maps or parcels. The 
density bonus shall be permitted in geographic areas of the housing 
development other than the areas where the units for the lower income 
households are located. 

93 

— 14 — Ch. 666 



(j) (1)  The granting of a concession or incentive shall not require or be
interpreted, in and of itself, to require a general plan amendment, local 
coastal plan amendment, zoning change, study, or other discretionary 
approval. For purposes of this subdivision, “study” does not include 
reasonable documentation to establish eligibility for the concession or 
incentive or to demonstrate that the incentive or concession meets the 
definition set forth in subdivision (k). This provision is declaratory of 
existing law. 

(2) Except as provided in subdivisions (d) and (e), the granting of a
density bonus shall not require or be interpreted to require the waiver of a 
local ordinance or provisions of a local ordinance unrelated to development 
standards. 

(k) For the purposes of this chapter, concession or incentive means any
of the following: 

(1) A reduction in site development standards or a modification of zoning 
code requirements or architectural design requirements that exceed the 
minimum building standards approved by the California Building Standards 
Commission as provided in Part 2.5 (commencing with Section 18901) of 
Division 13 of the Health and Safety Code, including, but not limited to, a 
reduction in setback and square footage requirements and in the ratio of 
vehicular parking spaces that would otherwise be required that results in 
identifiable and actual cost reductions, to provide for affordable housing 
costs, as defined in Section 50052.5 of the Health and Safety Code, or for 
rents for the targeted units to be set as specified in subdivision (c). 

(2) Approval of mixed-use zoning in conjunction with the housing project 
if commercial, office, industrial, or other land uses will reduce the cost of 
the housing development and if the commercial, office, industrial, or other 
land uses are compatible with the housing project and the existing or planned 
development in the area where the proposed housing project will be located. 

(3) Other regulatory incentives or concessions proposed by the developer
or the city, county, or city and county that result in identifiable and actual 
cost reductions to provide for affordable housing costs, as defined in Section 
50052.5 of the Health and Safety Code, or for rents for the targeted units 
to be set as specified in subdivision (c). 

(l) Subdivision (k) does not limit or require the provision of direct
financial incentives for the housing development, including the provision 
of publicly owned land, by the city, county, or city and county, or the waiver 
of fees or dedication requirements. 

(m) This section does not supersede or in any way alter or lessen the
effect or application of the California Coastal Act of 1976 (Division 20 
(commencing with Section 30000) of the Public Resources Code). Any 
density bonus, concessions, incentives, waivers or reductions of development 
standards, and parking ratios to which the applicant is entitled under this 
section shall be permitted in a manner that is consistent with this section 
and Division 20 (commencing with Section 30000) of the Public Resources 
Code. 

93 

Ch. 666 — 15 — 



(n) If permitted by local ordinance, nothing in this section shall be
construed to prohibit a city, county, or city and county from granting a 
density bonus greater than what is described in this section for a development 
that meets the requirements of this section or from granting a proportionately 
lower density bonus than what is required by this section for developments 
that do not meet the requirements of this section. 

(o) For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:
(1) “Development standard” includes a site or construction condition,

including, but not limited to, a height limitation, a setback requirement, a 
floor area ratio, an onsite open-space requirement, or a parking ratio that 
applies to a residential development pursuant to any ordinance, general plan 
element, specific plan, charter, or other local condition, law, policy, 
resolution, or regulation. 

(2) “Maximum allowable residential density” means the density allowed 
under the zoning ordinance and land use element of the general plan, or, if 
a range of density is permitted, means the maximum allowable density for 
the specific zoning range and land use element of the general plan applicable 
to the project. If the density allowed under the zoning ordinance is 
inconsistent with the density allowed under the land use element of the 
general plan, the general plan density shall prevail. 

(p) (1)  Except as provided in paragraphs (2), (3), and (4), upon the
request of the developer, a city, county, or city and county shall not require 
a vehicular parking ratio, inclusive of handicapped and guest parking, of a 
development meeting the criteria of subdivisions (b) and (c), that exceeds 
the following ratios: 

(A) Zero to one bedroom: one onsite parking space.
(B) Two to three bedrooms: two onsite parking spaces.
(C) Four and more bedrooms: two and one-half parking spaces.
(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), if a development includes the

maximum percentage of low-income or very low income units provided for 
in paragraphs (1) and (2) of subdivision (f) and is located within one-half 
mile of a major transit stop, as defined in subdivision (b) of Section 21155 
of the Public Resources Code, and there is unobstructed access to the major 
transit stop from the development, then, upon the request of the developer, 
a city, county, or city and county shall not impose a vehicular parking ratio, 
inclusive of handicapped and guest parking, that exceeds 0.5 spaces per 
bedroom. For purposes of this subdivision, a development shall have 
unobstructed access to a major transit stop if a resident is able to access the 
major transit stop without encountering natural or constructed impediments. 

(3) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), if a development consists solely of
rental units, exclusive of a manager’s unit or units, with an affordable 
housing cost to lower income families, as provided in Section 50052.5 of 
the Health and Safety Code, then, upon the request of the developer, a city, 
county, or city and county shall not impose a vehicular parking ratio, 
inclusive of handicapped and guest parking, that exceeds the following 
ratios: 

93 

— 16 — Ch. 666 



(A) If the development is located within one-half mile of a major transit
stop, as defined in subdivision (b) of Section 21155 of the Public Resources 
Code, and there is unobstructed access to the major transit stop from the 
development, the ratio shall not exceed 0.5 spaces per unit. 

(B) If the development is a for-rent housing development for individuals
who are 62 years of age or older that complies with Sections 51.2 and 51.3 
of the Civil Code, the ratio shall not exceed 0.5 spaces per unit. The 
development shall have either paratransit service or unobstructed access, 
within one-half mile, to fixed bus route service that operates at least eight 
times per day. 

(4) Notwithstanding paragraphs (1) and (8), if a development consists
solely of rental units, exclusive of a manager’s unit or units, with an 
affordable housing cost to lower income families, as provided in Section 
50052.5 of the Health and Safety Code, and the development is either a 
special needs housing development, as defined in Section 51312 of the 
Health and Safety Code, or a supportive housing development, as defined 
in Section 50675.14 of the Health and Safety Code, then, upon the request 
of the developer, a city, county, or city and county shall not impose any 
minimum vehicular parking requirement. A development that is a special 
needs housing development shall have either paratransit service or 
unobstructed access, within one-half mile, to fixed bus route service that 
operates at least eight times per day. 

(5) If the total number of parking spaces required for a development is
other than a whole number, the number shall be rounded up to the next 
whole number. For purposes of this subdivision, a development may provide 
onsite parking through tandem parking or uncovered parking, but not through 
onstreet parking. 

(6) This subdivision shall apply to a development that meets the
requirements of subdivisions (b) and (c), but only at the request of the 
applicant. An applicant may request parking incentives or concessions 
beyond those provided in this subdivision pursuant to subdivision (d). 

(7) This subdivision does not preclude a city, county, or city and county
from reducing or eliminating a parking requirement for development projects 
of any type in any location. 

(8) Notwithstanding paragraphs (2) and (3), if a city, county, city and
county, or an independent consultant has conducted an areawide or 
jurisdictionwide parking study in the last seven years, then the city, county, 
or city and county may impose a higher vehicular parking ratio not to exceed 
the ratio described in paragraph (1), based upon substantial evidence found 
in the parking study, that includes, but is not limited to, an analysis of parking 
availability, differing levels of transit access, walkability access to transit 
services, the potential for shared parking, the effect of parking requirements 
on the cost of market-rate and subsidized developments, and the lower rates 
of car ownership for low-income and very low income individuals, including 
seniors and special needs individuals. The city, county, or city and county 
shall pay the costs of any new study. The city, county, or city and county 

93 

Ch. 666 — 17 — 



shall make findings, based on a parking study completed in conformity with 
this paragraph, supporting the need for the higher parking ratio. 

(9) A request pursuant to this subdivision shall neither reduce nor increase 
the number of incentives or concessions to which the applicant is entitled 
pursuant to subdivision (d). 

(q) Each component of any density calculation, including base density
and bonus density, resulting in fractional units shall be separately rounded 
up to the next whole number. The Legislature finds and declares that this 
provision is declaratory of existing law. 

(r) This chapter shall be interpreted liberally in favor of producing the
maximum number of total housing units. 

SEC. 2. No reimbursement is required by this act pursuant to Section 6 
of Article XIII B of the California Constitution because a local agency or 
school district has the authority to levy service charges, fees, or assessments 
sufficient to pay for the program or level of service mandated by this act, 
within the meaning of Section 17556 of the Government Code. 

O 

93 

— 18 — Ch. 666 



April 21st, 2021 

Dear City of Berkeley 4x4 Committee members, 

Thank you for your interest in SB-1079 and the inspiring story of Jocelyn Foreman 
was able to exercise her rights as a tenant under SB-1079 to keep her home, 
despite her landlord going into fore-closure.  

Jocelyn and I look forward to sharing more at the committee meeting and we have 
also attached info about the signing ceremony for Jocelyn’s home happening 
Friday April 23rd. A live stream will be available and also recorded for later viewing. 

Per the Committee’s request I have attached background information about SB-
1079 and the state-wide efforts to see its implementation fully funded that 
California Community Land Trust Network is leading.  

Links that contain further SB-1079 resources: 
1) SB-1079 legislative text

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201920200
SB1079

2) A KQED article about the process. We can now report that we were
successful! https://www.kqed.org/news/11868037/grandma-challenges-real-
estate-giant-in-early-test-of-new-california-law

3) A page from the CA CLT Network containing much background info about
SB-1079 info, and statewide efforts https://www.cacltnetwork.org/sb-1079-
implementation/

In addition, I have attached to the PDF the following background materials: 
1) Information on the signing ceremony and celebration for Jocelyn Fri Apr 23rd

at 3pm
2) Map of state-wide and Bay Area foreclosures in process as of April 2021.

Currently over 6,000 statewide. Note this is the tip of the iceberg - due to the
moratorium this is only non-traditional / non-GSE backed loans which is a
fraction of the state’s mortgages.

3) CA CLT Network’s SB-1079 presentation slides (sp/eng)
4) Los Angeles City Council’s support resolution providing support for Sen

Skinner’s bill.

We look forward to speaking with at the next 4x4 meeting, 

Best, 

Ian Winters 
Northern California Land Trust 

3120 Shattuck Ave. 
Berkeley, CA 94705 

(510) 548-7878
f. (510) 548-7562

www.nclt.org
nclt@nclt.org

Item 8.



Berkeley Community Leader Marshals a Movement, Saves Her Home - California’s First
Purchase Out of Foreclosure Under SB 1079

EVENT: Friday, April 23, 3pm, Malcolm X School, 1731 Prince Street, Berkeley, CA
CONTACT: Mwende Hinojosa mwende@theselc.org

Despite the covid-19 moratorium, there are currently 6,218 homes across the state in
foreclosure, with a 4% increase over the past three months. This is a crisis which impacts all of
California.  But one woman, Berkeley Unified School District Family Liaison, Jocelyn Foreman,
is making history as the first renter in California to purchase her home through the new state law
SB 1079, passed thanks to State Rep. Nancy Skinner. Jocelyn touches the lives of thousands
with her work, and now her community is lined up to support her groundbreaking effort to keep
her home. When the house Jocelyn rented sold at auction last month, Wedgewood, Inc., the
company synonymous with artificial housing scarcity thanks to the organizing efforts of
Moms4Housing, placed the winning bid of $600,000. Jocelyn wanted to stay in her home, so
after 45 days of fundraising and months of tireless organizing, she matched the winning bid,
resulting in the first purchase under SB 1079.

What is SB 1079? Sen. Nancy Skinner introduced SB 1079 last year to reduce pandemic
profiteering resulting from foreclosure auctions. Before the law was passed, the Sustainable
Economies Law Center bolstered it by adding a 45-day hold period in which tenants, potential
owner-occupants, nonprofits, cooperatives, and others can purchase the property by either
matching or exceeding the auction’s winning bid.

But how does a tenant find $600,000 in 45 days? They don’t. In Jocelyn’s case, it was
fearless leadership and close collaboration with her team Jocelyn’s Corner that yielded a
partnership with the Northern California Land Trust. That partnership is what will allow the
home to be converted to permanently affordable ownership housing. An acquisition on this tight
timeline would not have been possible without the innovative support of the National Housing
Trust, which is providing the intermediate bridge financing.

Jocelyn’s community fundraising includes nearly 1000 individual donors in an online campaign
fiscally sponsored by Berkeley Public Schools Fund, grants from the Fund for an Inclusive
California at Common Counsel Foundation and the Kataly Foundation. Fundraising efforts
continue, with every dollar making the house and needed repairs more affordable for Jocelyn in
the long term.

But most tenants do not have this kind of support. That is why the California Community
Land Trust Network (CCLTN) stresses the need to fund SB 1079. CCLTN is a coalition of

mailto:mwende@theselc.org
https://sf.curbed.com/2020/4/29/21240456/moms-4-housing-oakland-house-history
https://sf.curbed.com/2020/4/29/21240456/moms-4-housing-oakland-house-history
https://www.theselc.org/
https://www.theselc.org/
http://www.linktr.ee/JocelynsCorner
https://nclt.org
https://www.nationalhousingtrust.org/
https://www.nationalhousingtrust.org/
https://secure.givelively.org/donate/berkeley-public-schools-fund/planting-seeds-with-jocelyn-foreman
https://www.berkeleypublicschoolsfund.org
https://www.commoncounsel.org/fund-for-an-inclusive-california/
https://www.commoncounsel.org/fund-for-an-inclusive-california/
https://www.katalyfoundation.org
https://www.cacltnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Fund-the-Housing-for-Homeowners-Act-PRESS-RELEASE-1-13-21.pdf
https://www.cacltnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Fund-the-Housing-for-Homeowners-Act-PRESS-RELEASE-1-13-21.pdf


more than 30 community land trusts throughout California fighting to fully fund the Home for
Homeowners, Not Corporations Act with a minimum investment of $103.5 million to empower
land trusts and allied groups to purchase homes that are in foreclosure. All the original
co-signers for SB 1079, along with several more advocacy organizations, have signed on to
CCLTN’s demand because they believe that homes are for communities, not corporations.

In Jocelyn’s words, “This is my effort to make it stop, and not just stop for me, stop for many.
How many people - how many women are single and caring for their children in situations like
this and then just have to go? I’m not doing that anymore.”

“This is the first step in proof of concept for SB1079’s ability to prevent homelessness in the face
of foreclosure.  The California CLT Network has a $103.5 million funding request with the State,
which would enable families across the state to stay in their homes.” Ian Winters, California
Community Land Trust Network

“The stars have aligned for Jocelyn Foreman but not everyone can organize and mobilize this
level of support while also managing an imminent and direct threat to their housing. If this law is
going to serve as intended, we need SB 1079 acquisition funding. We need to transform this
intention into a viable tool.” Christine Hernandez, Radical Real Estate Law School at the
Sustainable Economies Law Center

“When I introduced and passed SB 1079, my purpose was to give individual homeowners the
ability to compete against corporate [purchasers],” Nancy Skinner, State Representative

(refer to first paragraph: a graph of the thousands of notices of default in CA during pandemic)

https://www.cacltnetwork.org/support-sb-1079/






California Community Land Trust 
Network and funding SB 1079

How to invest now to stem the tide of the exacerbated housing 
crisis due to COVID 19 - January 30th, 2021



La Red de Fideicomisos de Tierras 
Comunitarias de California (CA CLT) y 
la financiación del SB 1079

Cómo invertir ahora para frenar la crisis de la vivienda que ha empeorado debido a 
COVID 19 30 de enero de 2021



Joining the CACLTN in this ask are: Se unen a esta petición del CACLTN: 

● Oakland Mayor Libby Schaaf California Reinvestment Coalition, Kevin Stein

● Richmond City Council Member Melvin Willis Safe Return Project, Challa Bonner

● Richmond City Council Member Claudia Jimenez People’s Land and Housing Alliance, James Huynh & Leslie 

Gordon

● Former Richmond City Council Member Jael Myrick Richmond Community Foundation, Jim Becker

● Somos Mayfair, Victor Vasquez CD Tech, Susana Coracero

● Contra Costa Budget Justice, Dan Geiger Eden Community Land Trust, Renee Badruzzaman

● Richmond Our Power Coalition, Katherine Ramos Inclusive Action, Rudy Espinoza

● Ensuring Opportunities Campaign, Mariana Moore Sustainable Economies Law Center, Jay Cumberland

● Oakland City Council Member Carroll Fife



Who are the California Community Land Trust 
Network?

The California Community Land Trust Network is a membership organization representing the 
interests of the over 30 community land trusts throughout the state of California and collectively 
over $220 million of community assets. Our work is centered on the preservation of existing 
affordable housing, stemming the tide of displacement with a focus on the resident ownership of 
housing and community control of land through Community Land Trusts (CLTs).   



¿Qué es la Red de Fideicomisos de Tierras 
Comunitarias de California (CACLTN)?
La Red de Fideicomisos de Tierras Comunitarias de California es una organización de miembros 
que representa los intereses de más de 30 fideicomisos de tierras comunitarias (CLTs) en todo el 
estado de California y colectivamente más de $220 millones de dólares de fondos activos 
comunitarios. Nuestro trabajo se centra en la preservación de las viviendas asequibles existentes, 
frenando la gran cantidad de desplazamientos con un enfoque en la propiedad de los residentes 
de las viviendas y el control comunitario de la tierra a través de los Fideicomisos de Tierras 
Comunitarias (CLTs).   



What is a Community Land Trust?
Community Land Trust has the same meaning as Revenue and Taxation Code Section
402.1 paragraph (a)(11)(C)(ii).

ii) “Community land trust” means a nonprofit corporation organized pursuant to Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code that satisfies all of the following:

(I) Has as its primary purposes the creation and maintenance of permanently affordable single-family or 
multifamily residences.

(II) All dwellings and units located on the land owned by the nonprofit corporation are sold to a qualified owner to 
be occupied as the qualified owner’s primary residence or rented to persons and families of low or moderate 
income.

(III) The land owned by the nonprofit corporation, on which a dwelling or unit sold to a qualified owner is situated, 
is leased by the nonprofit corporation to the qualified owner for the convenient occupation and use of that dwelling 
or unit for a renewable term of 99 years.



El término "Community Land Trust" tiene el mismo significado que la Sección 402.1 del Código de 
Ingresos e Impuestos 402.1 párrafo (a)(11)(C)(ii).
ii) Por "fideicomiso comunitario de tierras" se entiende una corporación sin fines de lucro constituida 
de conformidad con el artículo 501(c)(3) del Código de Impuestos Internos que cumple todos los 
requisitos siguientes
(I) Tiene como propósitos principales la creación y el mantenimiento de residencias unifamiliares o 
multifamiliares permanentemente asequibles.
(II) Todas las viviendas y unidades situadas en el terreno propiedad de la corporación sin fines de 
lucro se venden a un propietario calificado para que las ocupe como residencia principal o las 
alquile a personas y familias de ingresos bajos o moderados.
(III) El terreno propiedad de la corporación sin fines de lucro, en el cual se encuentra una vivienda o 
unidad vendida a un propietario calificado, es arrendado por la corporación sin fines de lucro al 
propietario calificado para la ocupación y uso conveniente de esa vivienda o unidad por un término 
renovable de 99 años. 

¿Qué es un Fideicomisos de Tierras Comunitarias (CLT)?
CLT = Community Land Trust



What is a Community Land Trust?

A nonprofit organization that 
acquires LAND & stewards it in 
perpetual TRUST for the benefit of 
low-income COMMUNITIES



¿Qué es un Community Land Trust (CLT)?

Una organización sin fines de lucro que 
adquiere TERRENOS y los administra en 
FIDEICOMISO perpetuo en beneficio de 
las COMUNIDADES de bajos ingresos. 

Fideicomisos de Tierras Comunitarias (CLT, por sus siglas en inglés)





LOS RESIDENTES CONTROLAN 
LAS PROPIEDADES 

HOGAR 
UNIFAMILIAR

COOPERATIVA DE 
VIVIENDA DE 

CAPITAL LIMITADO 
(LEHC) CONDOMINIO

ALQUILER 
MULTIFAMILIA

R

ALQUILER DEL TERRENO POR 99 AÑOS

LA COMUNIDAD ES DUEÑA DEL TERRENO



Why a Community Land Trust? 

Data Source: Lincoln Institute of Land Policy



¿Por qué un Community Land Trust?

Data Source: Lincoln Institute of Land Policy

COSTO DEL TERRENO vs. VIVIENDA EN OAKLAND (1984-2016)

FECHA (POR TRISMESTRE)



Stewardship of Public Subsidy
CLT Homes Remain Affordable in 
Perpetuity with a One-Time Subsidy



Gestión de la subvención 
pública
Las viviendas CLT siguen siendo asequibles a 
perpetuidad con una subvención única



What is SB 1079?
SB 1079, which went into effect January 1, 2021, was written with the work of CLTs in mind; 

● the intent of the bill is to make it easier for CLTs and other not-for-profit affordable housing providers 
to intervene in the foreclosure auction process in order to keep homeowners and tenants in small 1-
4 unit buildings from losing their housing and potentially becoming homeless.  

● In this way it is structured similarly to existing Revenue and Taxation Code provisions for Chapter 8 
tax sales, except that rather than allowing tax defaulted properties to be removed from County 
auctions, SB 1079 allows a qualified buyer (either a nonprofit affordable housing organization or the 
residents themselves) to beat the highest offer of an investor-buyer.  

● To operationalize the intent of this bill, CLTs would need access to financing to be able to “out-bid” 
the investor-buyers - WHICH IS WHY WE NEED A STATE SUBSIDY TO ACCOMPLISH THE 
INTENT OF THIS GREAT BILL. 



¿Qué es el SB 1079?
SB 1079, que entró en vigor el 1 de enero de 2021, fue escrito con el trabajo de los CLTs en mente;

• la intención del proyecto de ley es hacer más fácil que los CLTs y otros proveedores de vivienda 
asequible sin fines de lucro puedan intervenir en el proceso de subasta de ejecución hipotecaria con 
el fin de ayudar a los propietarios e inquilinos en pequeños edificios de 1 a 4 unidades, y 
protegerlos de perder su vivienda y potencialmente quedarse sin hogar.

• En tal sentido, está estructurado de manera similar a las disposiciones existentes del Código de 
Ingresos y Tributación –Capítulo 8– para el impuesto a las ventas, excepto que, en lugar de permitir 
que las propiedades con incumplimiento de impuestos sean retiradas de las subastas del Condado, 
SB 1079 permite que un comprador calificado (ya sea una organización de vivienda asequible sin 
fines de lucro o los propios residentes) supere la oferta más alta de un comprador-inversionista.

• Para poner en práctica la intención de este proyecto de ley, los CLTs necesitarían acceso a 
financiación para poder superar la oferta más alta de un comprador-inversionista.

ESE ES EL MOTIVO POR EL QUE NECESITAMOS UNA SUBVENCIÓN DEL ESTADO 
PARA LOGRAR LA INTENCIÓN DE ESTE GRAN PROYECTO DE LEY.



WHAT DOES THE CACLTN ENVISION?

1. The State should create a targeted fund to support the 
implementation of SB 1079 in the amount of $103.5 million for the 
first year, with the funding going up 20% per year until 2026.

2. This funding would be primarily used for pre-development, 
acquisition, and rehabilitation of at-risk housing.

3. A start-up cost of $2.5 million will be used to develop the 
Foreclosure Intervention Housing Preservation Program, along 
with regional partners (such as CDFIs), that can be broadly 
implemented by CLTs, allowing us to quickly acquire and 
preserve foreclosed properties.



¿CUÁL ES LA VISIÓN DEL CACLTN?

1. El Estado debe crear un fondo específico para apoyar la aplicación del 
SB 1079 en la cantidad de $103.5 millones de dólares para el primer año, 
con un aumento de 20% por año en la financiación hasta 2026.

2. Esta financiación se utilizaría principalmente para el pre-desarrollo, la 
adquisición y la rehabilitación de viviendas en riesgo.

3. Un costo inicial de $2.5 millones de dólares se utilizará para desarrollar el 
Programa de Intervención en la Ejecución Hipotecaria para la 
Preservación de la Vivienda, junto con socios regionales (como CDFIs), 
que puede ser ampliamente implementado por los CLTs, lo que nos 
permite adquirir rápidamente y preservar las propiedades que han tenido 
Ejecución Hipotecaria. 



annual increase 20%

Total annual appropriation 1 time startup amount 
2021-2022 $103,500,000 $2,500,000
2022-2023 $124,200,000
2023-2024 $149,040,000
2024-2025 $178,848,000
2025-2026 $214,617,600
2026 - completing re-use period $0
2027-completing reuse period $0
total appropriation $770,205,600
IMPACT SUMMARY

cost per unit range / 50% reuse / 80% AMI cap $208,918 $273,200
# of households served 3,687 2,819

# persons served, 3 person occupancy 11,060 8,458

# persons served over 99 years 77,420
# households over 99 years 25,807
cost per household over 99 years $29,845



Incremento anual 20%

Total de apropiación anual Cantidad única inicial
2021-2022 $103,500,000 $2,500,000
2022-2023 $124,200,000
2023-2024 $149,040,000
2024-2025 $178,848,000
2025-2026 $214,617,600
2026 - completar periodo de re-uso $0
2027- completar periodo de re-uso $0
Apropiación total $770,205,600
RESUMEN DEL IMPACTO

costo por unidad / 50% re-uso / 80% AMI límite $208,918 $273,200
# de hogares servidos 3,687 2,819

# personas servidas, (3 personas por hogar) 11,060 8,458

# personas servidas durante 99 años 77,420
# hogares durante 99 años 25,807
costo por hogar durante 99 años $29,845



LEGACY OF THE STATE DURING COVID 19
➢ We estimate that in the first year of this program, we will be able to preserve between 238-

311 homes, second year is 292-382 homes, third year is 458-598 homes, fourth year is 552-
722 homes, fifth year is 711-930 homes.  

➢ Which will provide permanently affordable homes to approximately 750-900 Californians in 
the first year based on the average of a 3 person occupancy.  

➢ For every unit acquired and rehabilitated with the SB 1079 fund in the first year of investment, 
an average of 14 households will have the chance at sustainable homeownership over the 
first 99 years of CLT stewardship (given the average length of tenure at seven years), which 
amounts to 4,200 Californians.  

Ø The number of households served over 5 years 3,687
Ø The number of Californians served, 3 person occupancy over 5 years 11,060
Ø The number of households served over 99 years after the 5 year investment 25,807
Ø The number of Californians served over 99 years after the 5 year investment 77,420
Ø Cost per household over 99 years is the modest amount of $29,845



LEGADO DEL ESTADO DURANTE COVID-19
➢ Calculamos que en el primer año de este programa podremos conservar entre 238 y 311 

viviendas, el segundo año entre 292 y 382 viviendas, el tercer año entre 458 y 598 
viviendas, el cuarto año entre 552 y 722 viviendas y el quinto año entre 711 y 930 viviendas.   

➢ Lo que proporcionará viviendas asequibles de forma permanente a aproximadamente 750-
900 californianos en el primer año, basados en un promedio de ocupación de 3 personas.  

➢ Por cada unidad adquirida y rehabilitada con el fondo SB 1079 en el primer año de inversión, 
un promedio de 14 hogares tendrán la oportunidad de ser propietarios de una vivienda 
sostenible durante los primeros 99 años de gestión de la CLT (dada la duración promedio de 
la tenencia de siete años), lo que equivale a 4,200 californianos.  

Ø Número de hogares atendidos durante 5 años: 3,687
Ø Número de californianos atendidos, con una ocupación de 3 personas durante 5 años: 11,060
Ø Número de hogares atendidos durante 99 años después de la inversión de 5 años: 25,807
Ø Número de californianos atendidos durante 99 años luego de la inversión de 5 años: 77,420
Ø Costo por hogar en 99 años es la modesta cantidad de $29,845 dólares 



California is in crisis and this will help

A. Approximately 35% of Americans are poised to lose their homes in the next two months 
without major intervention from the state or federal government[1]

B. The homelessness crisis is substantially catalyzing the spread of COVID 19[2]
C. There are currently almost 6,000 properties in California that are in some stage of 

foreclosure.[3]  While alarming, this number is still lower than it is expected to become, since 
many homeowners are still protected by mortgage forbearance related to protections 
enacted by the federal government.

[1]https://www.msn.com/en-us/news/us/35-of-americans-could-lose-their-home-in-next-two-months-census-report-says/ar-
BB1c3xWa?fbclid=IwAR1opVZaOySJp3DBQxtWINJgxW8IHFwEMU5mGm1LtzNvFvCLxPRyDlz4CXs

[2]https://www.npr.org/2020/12/01/940816002/researcher-finds-evictions-are-associated-with-more-than-10-000-death-from-
covid?fbclid=IwAR1E4l94HAc8G5Q7Uueh8MFF-5vWenfu5EuHdDn8XGwP3ZAb8Rd_uRoRjg8

[3] https://national.propertyradar.com/

https://www.msn.com/en-us/news/us/35-of-americans-could-lose-their-home-in-next-two-months-census-report-says/ar-BB1c3xWa?fbclid=IwAR1opVZaOySJp3DBQxtWINJgxW8IHFwEMU5mGm1LtzNvFvCLxPRyDlz4CXs
https://www.npr.org/2020/12/01/940816002/researcher-finds-evictions-are-associated-with-more-than-10-000-death-from-covid?fbclid=IwAR1E4l94HAc8G5Q7Uueh8MFF-5vWenfu5EuHdDn8XGwP3ZAb8Rd_uRoRjg8
https://national.propertyradar.com/


California está en crisis y esto ayudará

A. Aproximadamente el 35% de los estadounidenses están a punto de perder sus casas en los 
próximos dos meses si no hay una intervención importante del gobierno estatal o federal[1].

B. La crisis de las personas sin hogar está empeorando mucho la propagación de COVID 19[2]

C. Actualmente hay casi 6,000 propiedades en California que se encuentran en alguna fase de 
ejecución hipotecaria[3] Aunque es alarmante, esta cifra sigue siendo menor de lo que se 
espera que sea, ya que muchos propietarios todavía están protegidos por la exención 
hipotecaria relacionada con las protecciones que dio el gobierno federal.

[1]https://www.msn.com/en-us/news/us/35-of-americans-could-lose-their-home-in-next-two-months-census-report-says/ar-
BB1c3xWa?fbclid=IwAR1opVZaOySJp3DBQxtWINJgxW8IHFwEMU5mGm1LtzNvFvCLxPRyDlz4CXs

[2]https://www.npr.org/2020/12/01/940816002/researcher-finds-evictions-are-associated-with-more-than-10-000-death-from-
covid?fbclid=IwAR1E4l94HAc8G5Q7Uueh8MFF-5vWenfu5EuHdDn8XGwP3ZAb8Rd_uRoRjg8

[3] https://national.propertyradar.com/

https://www.msn.com/en-us/news/us/35-of-americans-could-lose-their-home-in-next-two-months-census-report-says/ar-BB1c3xWa?fbclid=IwAR1opVZaOySJp3DBQxtWINJgxW8IHFwEMU5mGm1LtzNvFvCLxPRyDlz4CXs
https://www.npr.org/2020/12/01/940816002/researcher-finds-evictions-are-associated-with-more-than-10-000-death-from-covid?fbclid=IwAR1E4l94HAc8G5Q7Uueh8MFF-5vWenfu5EuHdDn8XGwP3ZAb8Rd_uRoRjg8
https://national.propertyradar.com/


Draft Language
California Community Land Trust Network’s proposed language for budget trailer bill to fund implementation of SB 1079

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS:

SEC. 1. Chapter 8.6 (commencing with Section 50709) is added to Part 2 of Division 31 of the Health and Safety Code, to read:

50720. (a) The Foreclosure Intervention Housing Preservation Program is hereby established for the purpose of funding the 
acquisition of one to four unit properties purchased by eligible bidders in trustee sales pursuant to Section 2924m of the Civil Code. 
The purpose of this program is to preserve affordable housing and to promote resident ownership or nonprofit organization ownership 
of residential real property. The program will be comprised of a Loan Fund to support eligible property acquisitions by eligible
bidders.

(b) “Department” means the Department of Housing and Community Development.

(c) The department shall adopt guidelines for the operation of the program. The guidelines shall not be subject to the requirements of 
Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code. The guidelines shall not be 
subject to the requirements of Chapter 8.3 (commencing with Section 50705) of Part 2 of Division 31 of the Health and Safety 
Code….



Borrador del lenguaje: ¿comentarios?
Lenguaje propuesto por la Red de Fideicomisos de Tierras Comunitarias de California (CACLT) para el proyecto 

de ley sobre el presupuesto para financiar la implementación del SB 1079

EL PUEBLO DEL ESTADO DE CALIFORNIA PROMULGA LO SIGUIENTE:

SEC. 1. Se agrega el capítulo 8.6 (que comienza con la Sección 50709) a la Parte 2 de la División 31 del Código de Salud y 
Seguridad, para que diga:

50720. (a) Por la presente se establece el Programa de Intervención en Ejecuciones Hipotecarias para financiar la adquisición de
propiedades de 1 a 4 unidades compradas por postores elegibles en ventas de fideicomisarios de conformidad con la Sección 2924m 
del Código Civil. El propósito de este programa es preservar la vivienda asequible y promover la propiedad de residentes o de
organizaciones sin fines de lucro de bienes inmuebles residenciales. El programa estará compuesto por un Fondo de Préstamos para
apoyar las adquisiciones de propiedades elegibles por parte de postores elegibles.

(b) "Departamento" se refiere a el Departamento de Vivienda y Desarrollo Comunitario.

(c) El departamento adoptará normas para el funcionamiento del programa. Las normas no estarán sujetas a los requisitos del 
Capítulo 3.5 (que comienza con la Sección 11340) de la Parte 1 de la División 3 del Título 2 del Código de Gobierno. Las normas no 
estarán sujetas a los requisitos del Capítulo 8.3 (que comienza con la Sección 50705) de la Parte 2 de la División 31 del Código de 
Salud y Seguridad....



MOTION PASSED BY LA BOARD OF SUPS
AGN. NO.MOTION BY SUPERVISORS HILDA L. SOLIS AND HOLLY MITCHELL 
Support of State Budget Proposal to Fund the Foreclosure Intervention Housing 
Preservation Program implementing SB1079On January 1st, 2021 Senate Bill (SB)1079 
(Chapter 202, Statutes of 2020) went into effect. This bill was otherwise known as the 
“Housing For Homeowners, Not Corporations Act” sought to preference home ownership 
for the people of California over corporate investors by modifying the State’s foreclosure 
auction process to reduce the advantage big corporations purchasing many homes in bulk 
at a single auction. Specifically, the bill prohibits foreclosure trustees from bundling 
properties for sale at a foreclosure auction and instead requires that each property be bid 
on separately. Additionally, the bill provides tenants, prospective owner-occupants, 
nonprofit affordable housing providers (including community land trusts), and public entities 
45-days to purchase residential properties of 1-4 units if they can match or exceed the 
highest bid at a foreclosure auction. These provisions sunset on January 1, 2026.



QUESTIONS?



¿PREGUNTAS?



MOTION 

MITCHELL ___________________________ 

KUEHL ___________________________ 

HAHN ___________________________ 

BARGER ___________________________ 

SOLIS ___________________________ 

AGN. NO.  

MOTION BY SUPERVISORS HILDA L. SOLIS April 20, 2021 

AND HOLLY MITCHELL 

Support of State Budget Proposal to Fund the Foreclosure Intervention Housing 
Preservation Program implementing SB1079 

On January 1st, 2021 Senate Bill (SB)1079 (Chapter 202, Statutes of 2020) went 

into effect. This bill was otherwise known as the “Housing For Homeowners, Not 

Corporations Act” sought to preference home ownership for the people of California over 

corporate investors by modifying the State’s foreclosure auction process to reduce the 

advantage big corporations purchasing many homes in bulk at a single auction. 

Specifically, the bill prohibits foreclosure trustees from bundling properties for sale at a 

foreclosure auction and instead requires that each property be bid on separately.  

Additionally, the bill provides tenants, prospective owner-occupants, nonprofit affordable 

housing providers (including community land trusts), and public entities 45-days to 

purchase residential properties of 1-4 units if they can match or exceed the highest bid at 

a foreclosure auction.  These provisions sunset on January 1, 2026. 



The intent of this bill is laudable, but its application is uncertain since individuals 

and organizations that want to purchase a foreclosed property at auction must have the 

financial resources to do so and within a short period of time.  A coalition of approximately 

30 community-based advocates, led by the California Community Land Trust Network, 

have proposed a State Budget Proposal (Budget Proposal) to fund implementation of SB 

1079 by providing $770.0 million over five years for the “Foreclosure Intervention Housing 

Preservation Program.” The proposal is seeking $103.5 million in Fiscal Year 2021-22.  

Despite the State’s current foreclosure and eviction moratorium, there are 

approximately 6,000 properties in some stage of foreclosure in the State, and over 1,000 

of them are in Los Angeles alone. Once the moratorium is lifted, we expect to see a sharp 

increase in these already alarming numbers. This Budget Proposal would help avert a 

repeat of the devastating 2008 foreclosure crisis by providing multiple years of financing, 

routed through regional Community Development Financing Institutions, so that eligible 

would-be homeowners would be able to meet SB 1079’s 45-day timeline  

The Governor’s May Revision will be released soon, and the Legislature’s budget 

subcommittees are working on their final proposals and recommendations for the Fiscal 

Year 2021-22 State Budget.  The Budget Proposal put forth by the California Community 

Land Trust Network to fund the Foreclosure Intervention Housing Preservation Program 

should be one of the proposals under consideration as part of those discussions.  

WE, THEREFORE, MOVE that the Board of Supervisors support the California 

Community Land Trust Network’s $770.0 million Budget Proposal, or similar proposals, 

to fund implementation of the Foreclosure Intervention Housing Preservation Program. 

# # # 


	4.
	5.
	6.
	8.



